
Please ask for  Helen McAleer DDI (01362) 656381 
e-mail: helen.mcaleer@breckland.gov.uk 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 
 
 

Committee - BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT SUB-
COMMITTEE 

Date & Time - Tuesday, 6th April, 2010 at 11.00 am 

Venue - Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth 
House, Dereham 

 
 

 

Members of the Sub-Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two 

working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this 
will be provided, and reported to the Sub-Committee. 

 
 

Members of the Sub-Committee 
  
Mr W.H.C. Smith (Chairman) 
Mr P.D. Claussen 
 

Lady Fisher 
 

 

 
 
 

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 

REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONESREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONESREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONESREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES    

Member Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Friday, 26 March 2010  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Business Improvement Sub-Committee 
06 April 2010 

 

 

 

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. MINUTES  1 - 5 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 5 January 2010.  
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive any apologies for absence.    
 

 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To consider any urgent business.   
 

 

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests they may have in 
any of the following items on the agenda. The Members’ Code of Conduct 
requires that declarations include the nature of the interest and whether it is a 
personal or prejudicial interest.  
 

 

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.  
 

 

6. ICT PRINT STRATEGY  To Follow 

 Report of the Director of Governance and Finance.  
 

 

7. CUSTOMER ACCESS STRATEGY  6 - 21 

 Report of the Director of Governance and Finance.  
 

 

8. PROCUREMENT STRATEGY  22 - 53 

 Report by Lesley Heywood, Strategic Contracts & Procurement Manager.  
 

 

9. ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS: ISO14001  To Follow 

 Report presented by Stephen James, Policy and Performance Manager.  
 

 

10. LICENSING AND BUSINESS SUPPORT  54 - 59 

 Update on the Licensing and Business Support Improvement Programme by 
the Senior Business Improvement Officer.  
 

 

11. PROJECTS REVIEW   

a) Project Progress To Follow  

 Report of the ICT Project Manager.  
 

 

b) Assets Estateman 60 - 64  

 Report of the ICT Project Manager.   



Business Improvement Sub-Committee 
01 April 2010 

 
 
 Page(s) 

herewith 

 

c) Contaminated Land 65 - 69  

 Report of the Environmental Health Manager.  
 

 

d) Government Connect To Follow  

 Report of the ICT Project Manager.  
 

 

e) PCI Compliance Phase 70 - 94  

 Report of the ICT Project Manager.  
 

 

12. PROJECT APPLICATIONS   

a) Housing Digital TV 95 - 111  

 Report of the Housing Strategy and Development Officer.   
 

 

13. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   

 To consider passing the following resolution: 
 
“That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act”. 
 

PART B – ITEMS FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED  

 

 

14. LAGAN HEALTHCHECK  To Follow 

 Report of the ICT Project Manager.  
 

 

15. PENETRATION TEST  To Follow 

 Report of the ICT Project Manager.  
 

 

16. STERIA SERVICE REVIEW  112 - 115 

 Report of the Head of ICT.  
 

 

17. NEXT MEETING   

 To note that the next meeting will be held on Tuesday, 4 May 2010 at 9.30am 
– venue to be confirmed.  
 

 

 



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

Held on Tuesday, 5 January 2010 at 9.30 am in 
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham 

 
PRESENT  
Mr W.H.C. Smith (Chairman) 
Mr P.D. Claussen 
 

Lady Fisher 
 

 
Also Present  
Mr P.J. Duigan 
 

  
 

 
In Attendance  
Margaret Bailey - Senior Accountant Capital and Treasury 
Robert Barlow - Director of Governance and Finance 
Adam Colby - Senior Business Improvement Officer 
Stephen James - Policy and Performance Manager 
Kevin J Taylor - ICT/BIT Manager 
Helen McAleer - Committee Officer 

 
 
 Action By 

 

1/10 MINUTES   

  

 The minutes of the meeting held on 1 December 2009 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
The following points were noted: 
 

Min No 30/09 

• The Citrix roll-out to Members was continuing and problems 
were being resolved as they arose.   

• Two Members trialling the new notebooks had returned them 
and it was thought that size was the issue.  Cllr Claussen 
volunteered to trial one. 

 
It was felt that one issue with regard to both the above points was that 
they required a new way of working, and it was agreed that Members 
would benefit from more training.   

 
Andrew Head would provide an update to the next meeting on these 
issues and on Broadband availability. 

 
 Min No 34/09 

Margaret Bailey‘s concerns were being addressed by regular 
meetings with Kevin J Taylor.  Final costings would be co-terminus 
with the adoption of the IT Strategy. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Kevin J 
Taylor  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Andrew 
Head  

Agenda Item 1

1



Business Improvement Sub-Committee 
5 January 2010 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

 
 Min 37/09 

There had been no new discussions since the last meeting.  
Information from BT/Norfolk County Council was still awaited and was 
expected late January/early February. 

  
2/10 APOLOGIES   

  

 Apologies for absence were received from Mrs M Coffey. 
  

 

3/10 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

  

 Mr P Duigan.   

4/10 ICT STRATEGY 2009   

  

 The Chairman suggested that this item should not be discussed until the 
financial figures were available (these to be provided in a separate 
supporting document).  It was also confirmed that the Strategy should not 
be presented to Exec Board before it had been discussed and agreed by 
the Sub-Committee. 
 
AGREED to defer this item.  See Minute No 5/10.  
  

 

5/10 PRINT STRATEGY   

  

 The Head of IT presented this report and said that the key pages were 
12-13 which set out the Council’s vision and business direction. 
 
The Director of Governance and Finance explained that following 
consultation with staff, some simple things were already being done to 
avoid waste. 
 
The Policy and Performance Manager was looking to see if it would be 
cheaper to allow colour copying in the Print Room only.  He needed to 
assess how the Print Room worked before progressing this idea.  It was 
noted that the Print Room needed to be included in the Print Strategy.   
 
This was an opportunity to look at changes to working practice to reduce 
paper use.  The use of wireless technology was to be encouraged, but at 
present the Council did not have full wireless connectivity throughout the 
building.   Staff also needed to be educated on the use of the scanning 
facilities within existing multi-function devices and the use of server 
storage space. 
 
A Member felt this was also the time to look at the overall business case 
for document imaging.  It was felt this should be included in both the Print 
and ICT Strategies.  The Director of Governance and Finance suggested 
that Document Imaging could be the next big project after Licensing. 
 
After further discussion it was AGREED that this item should also be 
deferred.  See Minute No. 5/10.  
 

 

6/10 CUSTOMER ACCESS STRATEGY   

  

 Lady Fisher introduced this item which she felt gave a view of the current 
position and gave a ‘line in the sand’ from which to move forward. 

 

2



Business Improvement Sub-Committee 
5 January 2010 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

 
 
The Chairman was concerned that Members had not had the opportunity 
to read this document and he suggested that it too should be deferred.  A 
Member suggested that this appeared more like a review and that a 
strategy was still needed. 
 
The Director of Governance and Finance noted that at page 57 of the 
report there was an Action Plan which set out the vision for the service 
delivery.   
 
Lady Fisher was concerned that there was a lack of capacity to deal with 
the forthcoming general election which could generate an addition 4,000 
enquiries and another Member pointed out that this was likely to coincide 
with the peak period of calls related to Council Tax. 
 
The Chairman felt that time needed to be spent discussing all three 
strategies (including integrating the Web strategy with the Customer 
Access Strategy) and he suggested that the next meeting should be 
cancelled and a workshop arranged in its place, at which the strategies 
could be discussed in more details, with all the relevant information, 
including finance and timelines available. 
 

RESOLVED to defer this item and to cancel the meeting 
scheduled for 16 February 2010 and to hold a workshop in its 
place, at which: 
 
(1) all three Strategies (IT, Print and Customer Access) would 

be discussed; 
(2) Adam Colby would facilitate and would draw up a 

programme of major issues to be looked at, including such 
items at Communications and Web Strategy (to be agreed 
by Officers in advance).  

  
7/10 PROJECTS REVIEW   

  

 The Chairman reiterated that he did not want verbal reports included on 
the agenda as Members needed time to let their thoughts develop before 
making decisions. 
 
The Policy and Performance Manager explained that he was working on 
establishing Project monitoring via the TENs system.  This could include 
providing a business case, a Project Initiation Document and then a Post 
Project Review document at the end of a project to ensure all business 
benefits had been delivered.  He was writing a report to break the system 
down into three easy steps which could then be tracked on the TEN 
system. 
 
He suggested that a matrix could be developed to ensure that outcomes 
would be tracked, and would need to be achieved before projects were 
formally signed off. 
 
A Member was concerned that there were a number of projects being 
managed via a number of different forums.  A single governance model 
was needed to ensure that the expected benefits were realised and that 
accurate progress and status of projects was available to Members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3



Business Improvement Sub-Committee 
5 January 2010 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

 
 
The Director of Governance and Finance agreed that there was a need to 
amalgamate and to make more information available.  Some projects had 
already been removed because they had made no progress. He felt that 
at present the system’s weakness was in reporting on achievement of 
benefits rather than completion of project. 
 
The Chairman agreed that the existing process worked but often stopped 
short by achieving ‘sign off’ before full realisation of outcomes/returns. 
 
The Policy and Performance Manager was working on mapping out the 
whole framework from approval, through management to conclusion, 
providing greater hand-over and ownership, in the event of staff/project 
ownership changes, etc. 
 
A Member wanted the projects to show as red on the Performance 
Management system if they were not delivering to plan, which would then 
require the Service Area to justify the red status. 
 
The Chairman concluded by saying that a list was needed of all projects 
in existence that had been approved by the Sub-Committee (and the 
Business Improvement Board before it).  He wanted their progress, 
timelines and current status to be listed, including achievements and 
outcomes and he asked the Policy and Performance Manager to work 
with Kevin Rump to provide the list. 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Stephen 
James, 
Kevin 
Rump  

8/10 SUBMITTED APPLICATION FORMS (STANDING ITEM)   

  

 (a) Housing - DigiTV proposal    

   

 This item was not ready for discussion.   

   

9/10 NORFOLK HEADS OF ICT / LOCAL AUTHORITY PARTNERING / 
SHARED SERVICES  

 

  

 Members had been updated on this item under Minute No 1/10.  
 

 

10/10 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE   

  

 Figures would be provided at the workshop to be held on 16 February 
2010.  
 

 

11/10 OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE/STERIA SERVICE REVIEW   

  

 There had been no problems with the Steria service.  
 

 

12/10 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   

  

 RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involved the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act.  
 
 

 

4



Business Improvement Sub-Committee 
5 January 2010 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

 
13/10 COUNCIL TAX - BENEFIT REALISATION   

  

 The Director of Governance and Finance advised that the Director of 
Community Services was in discussion with Forest Heath.  He would find 
out how those discussions were going and provide an update for the next 
meeting.  
 

 
 
Robert 
Barlow  

14/10 LICENSING SERVICE REVIEW   

  

 The Senior Business Improvement Officer was in attendance to present 
this item.  He told Members that the review had started in September and 
was now in the implementation stage.  There were various streams of 
work in progress looking at all processes and the cost of delivery. 
 
The Chairman was pleased with an excellent piece of work and just 
wanted to ensure that the project was finished properly. 
 
The Director for Governance and Finance explained that they had tried to 
make this a six month project and had therefore had to be precise about 
what was included and what was left out of the review.  There was still 
other work to be done and that would be put into work plans to ensure 
that it was dealt with in the future. 
 
The Chairman concluded by saying that all projects should have a 
beginning, a middle and an end.  
 

 

15/10 NEXT MEETING   

  

 It was confirmed that the next meeting would be cancelled and a 
workshop arranged, in its place, facilitated by Adam Colby. 
 
The Workshop, which would not be a public meeting, would take place at 
09.30 on Tuesday 16 February 2010 in the Norfolk Room.  
 

 

 
 
The meeting closed at 11.02 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

5



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  0 

 
 

Breckland Council 
 

Customer Access Strategy 
 

2010 - 2012 

 
 
 

Breckland –  

a better place, a brighter futurea better place, a brighter futurea better place, a brighter futurea better place, a brighter future    
Contents                                                                     Page 

A
g

e
n
d
a
 Ite

m
 7

6



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  1 

 
o  Foreword                                                                            2 

 
o   The Vision                                                                         3 
  
o  Strategy Benefits                                                                4 

 
o   Multiple Access Channels                                                 6 

 
o  Enabling Technology                                                          7 

 
o  Equality                                                                               8 

 
o  Communications                                                                 9 

 
o  Value for Money                                                                10 

 
o  Quality Management                                                         11 

 
o  Governance                                                                       12 

 
o  Action Plan 2009 – 2012                                                    13-15 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Foreword 

7



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  2 

 
Welcome to the ‘Customer access Strategy for 2009 – 2012. 

The strategy sets out our vision for customer services and how we intend to  

improve on our existing customer access arrangements and how these improvements will be achieved. 

 

At Breckland Council we strive to provide high standards of service together with value for money for 

 local people and our mission statement has been chosen to reflect this; 

 

“Putting the customer at the heart of everything we do and to view the world from our customers’  

perspective; we need to put ourselves in our Citizens’ Shoes” 

 

We believe we must continue to work with feedback to improve where necessary, and to do this we hold  

regular Customer Forums, consult the Citizens’ Panel, conduct quarterly Customer Satisfaction Surveys and  

participate in road shows across the district. To ensure social inclusion we have adopted a “design for all”  

approach by providing multiple access channels at times and locations convenient to our customers. 

 

The purpose of our Customer Access Strategy is to explain what we will do to get customer service right first time, every time, at the first point of contact. It sets 

out our priorities and the outcomes we hope to achieve for local people. 

 

Kay Fisher 

Councillor Kay Fisher 

Executive member for Environmental Well-being and Customer Contact 

 

 

 

The Vision 

 
Councillor Kay Fisher 
Executive member for 

Environmental Well-Being 
and Customer Contact 

8



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  3 

 
The purpose of our strategy is to set out our vision for customer access to services, how we propose to improve on our existing customer 
access arrangements and setting out our plans on how improvement will be achieved. 
 
This strategy will assist us to resource our plans for delivering customer services and how we will communicate our vision and the plans to 
the public, businesses, employees and Elected Members.  
 
Our vision for excellence in customer access: 
 
“We aim to get customer service right first time every time at the first point of contact – wherever that happens – assisting, informing and reacting 
swiftly to demands.”  

 
This vision clearly supports our values and aims which are defined within our - 
 
Business Plan growing together Strategic Planning 2008 – 14  Your Council, your services – To tailor services to customer needs 
    
Accessible, Accountable, Democratic, Equality, Equitable, Ethical, Open & SustainableAccessible, Accountable, Democratic, Equality, Equitable, Ethical, Open & SustainableAccessible, Accountable, Democratic, Equality, Equitable, Ethical, Open & SustainableAccessible, Accountable, Democratic, Equality, Equitable, Ethical, Open & Sustainable    
 

o Fairness: our aspirations are to ensure equality of opportunity and choice through all our services. The approach of this Strategy is clearly 
to provide fair access to services for all communities within the district. 

 

o Transformation: our aspirations are to transform the way in which the public interacts with, and benefits from, local public services. 
 

o Quality Services: the strategy will continue to drive improvement in access to services. It will develop and set standards for improving 
personal choice for customers as well as improved efficiency and quality, building on current high levels.  

o Relevant services: designed around the need of our customer using the understanding from engagement and dialogue with users putting 
the customer first 

o Accessible:  through modern coordinated delivery channels in locations, at times and in ways which ensure social inclusion, minimising 
where possible the need to travel. 

o Consistent & Accurate:  using information from one central source, kept up to date, relevant and effective to ensure the same level of 
service and same information available to all and that all staff put themselves in the Citizens’ Shoes 

Strategy Benefits 

9



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  4 

 
Implementing this strategy is intended to provide customers with equality of access to all services and to achieve our vision. The overall 
service to customers will improve and administration will be reduced. Delivering the objectives will result in an increase in efficiency and 
provide the opportunity to take other costs out of the system. 
Some of the benefits will include: 
 
For customers:  
 

o Improved Customer satisfaction 
o Greater choice and convenience 
o Better customer service and provision of information 
o Resolution of queries at the first point of contact 
o Joined-up services 
o No unnecessary bureaucracy 
o Services accessible to all, in addition to the market town customer service centres, the aim is to introduce mobile working ensuring the rural 

communities are not disadvantaged  
o Greater involvement in the design, review and evaluation of services. 
o Listening to and working with your honest and valuable feedback 

 
For staff  
 

o Improved staff satisfaction 
o Customer-focused organisation  
o Led by confident, attentive and supportive people 
o Part of a progressive organisation which is modern, fresh and entrepreneurial 
o An ‘invest to save’ approach to customer services 
o Empowerment and involvement in shaping the improved service by attending Business Improvement workshops - staff use system thinking 

processes to change they way we work 
o Improved functionality of customer service centres  

o Ease of reporting management information 

o Continuous process improvement 
o Better productive time to focus on the customer. 

 
 

1
0



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  5 

For Breckland 
 

o Clear focus on the customer and services targeted to reflect need 
o Access channels that are ‘state of the art’, including a full range of electronic services 
o Efficiency gains and better value for money 
o Re-investment  
o Improved relationships with key stakeholders and other service providers 
o Higher customer satisfaction ratings 
o Transferability value of redesigned services for entrepreneurial activity 
o Improved quality of life. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Multiple Access Channels 

1
1



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  6 

 
Following on from our ongoing Customer Research through surveys, forums and focus groups results showed that 70% wish to contact us by 
telephone, 25% Face to Face and the remaining 5% wish to utilise our website; we have implemented a number of changes to ensure that 
residents and visitors have improved access to Council and other public services. 
 
In order to achieve this we will ensure that: 
 
Interactive web services remain available on a 24 x 7 basis. This will allow customers to look-up information and review advice, to make 
payments online and lodge service requests that will be dealt with within normal working hours. We wish to increase the transactional 
functionality of the site. 
The Customer Contact Centre operates Monday to Friday from 08:00 to 18:00 (closing Friday at 17:00) 
Customer Service Centres operational hours vary dependant on town 

 
ATTLEBOROUGH - Community and Enterprise Centre, Church Street, 
Monday, Tuesday & Thursday 9am – 4.30pm 
Friday 9am – 4pm closed for Lunch 1pm ½ an hour every day 
DEREHAM - Michael Chaplin House, Station Road, 
Monday, Tuesday, Thursday and Friday 9am – 5pm 
Wednesday 9am – 4.15pm 
THETFORD - Breckland House, St Nicholas Street, 
Monday to Thursday 9am – 5 pm 
Friday 9am – 4.30pm 
SWAFFHAM - Town Hall, London Street, 
Monday 9am – 4pm - closed for Lunch 1pm ½ an hour 
Tuesday, Thursday and Friday 9.30am – 1pm 
WATTON - Wayland House, High Street, 
Wednesday 9am – 4.30pm 
Friday 9am – 4pm closed for Lunch 1pm ½ an hour both days 

 
We recognise that our customers want to use different channels for different purposes at different times. It is important therefore that we 
provide multiple service channels but that the same high level of service is delivered through all of them. 
We provide a range of access opportunities to allow the customer to interact with us, whether it is to seek information, guidance or service 
delivery. Where appropriate this extends to partner organisations. 
 

1
2



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  7 

Enabling Technology 
 
The Government’s agenda for modernising the public sector, including local government, includes the rapid development of electronic 
service delivery. 
 
We aim to maintain the ‘Excellent’ rating achieved in an E-Government Access audit commission report November 2006, continuing to offer 
a seamless service to Norfolk residents.  
 
Our ICT strategy (currently being reviewed) seeks to deliver an infrastructure/platform to deliver the Councils key priorities, investigating 
viability of new and innovative ways of delivering services for the council, whilst respecting the need to deliver both ‘value for money’ for our 
Breckland residents, and also recognising our commitment to environmental change.   
   
However the heart of this Customer Access Strategy is for enquiries to be resolved at first point of contact, avoiding double handling of 
queries and delivering fast, effective and efficient query resolution. This is in part achieved through the effective use of technology commonly 
known as Customer Relationship Management software (CRM) allowing specific customer cases to be created, managed and tracked to 
completion, as well as a means of measurement of key performance indicators and measures. 
 
Our CRM is a necessarily complex system, having the ability to integrate with key back office systems, effectively moving specialist 
knowledge from back office to front office – which is where our customers need it. 
 
The further development of CRM will help to support Breckland’s pro-active customer centric approach, and we intend to extend and improve 
our online capability by developing our website, www.breckland.gov.uk.   Its aim being to resolve the majority of residents queries 24/7 – 
allowing our skilled contact centre team to focus on more value added service delivery. However development of the web interface to look-up 
information and advice, make further payments on-line, complete further electronic application forms, lodge service requests and enabled to 
text/SMS. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Equality 

1
3



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  8 

 
The promotion of widespread access to the information and services we offer through the use of appropriate technologies will extend the 
service, particularly to those customers in most need of assistance. 
 
We aim to establish equality of access to all members and groups of the community. We currently provide the following in order to achieve 
this: 
 

o  Interpretation services 
o  Translation and transposition to Braille 
o  Large print 
o  Tape or any other media necessary to enable customers to communicate 
o  Electronic doors/ramps where appropriate 
o  Hearing loops 
o  Minicom 
o  Staff training 
o  Diversity monitoring/Customer Segmentation 
o  Obtaining data from the Pension Service and contacting customers to advise them that they may have an entitlement to one of our 

services of which they were unaware. 
 
 We will ensure that we reach as many customers as possible in accordance with our Breckland Social Inclusion Strategy by:  
 

o Producing literature in different languages. 
o Producing forms in different languages. 
o Building up relationships and trusts with groups who would not normally visit/contact the offices. 
o Attending social events planned by organisations such as Age Concern in an attempt to increase the take up of particular services 

such as benefits 
o Holding Action Days with partner services to invite residents to become involved with the development of their area 
o Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) secured money from the Migration Impact Funding which will enable us to kick start a project of a 

One Stop Shop which will enable us to deliver a wider range of services by working with a variety of organisations, we also wish to 
enable mobile working which will take these services to our rural communities  

 

 
Communications 

1
4



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  9 

 
Just like any commercial business, our success depends on the satisfaction of our customers, and whether they believe services are easy to 
access and live up to their expectations. Therefore we regularly measure the views, perceptions, opinions and satisfaction of those who use 
our services. 
 
We believe that we use effective two-way communication to support our customer access and service strategy by: 
 

o Explaining about our services that are available and how to access them. 
 
o Taking further steps to ensure that we identify and reach people who are unaware of the services available to them and any 

entitlements that they may have. 
 

o Ensuring that our written communication is jargon free. 
 

o Deliver on promises, keeping the customer informed at all times even when there is no news. 
 

o Using electronic media (E-government) to transform services, making them more accessible, more convenient and more responsive;      
generating changes in behaviour, such as encouraging people to access services online. 

 
o Promoting equality of access, ensuring that information is available to everyone at the right time and in the format they prefer, 

supporting strategies for valuing diversity and social inclusion. 
 
o Branding policy & plain English guide which ensures the provision of appropriately branded, high quality written information (e.g. 

leaflets, brochures)  
 
o Developing a culture where the importance of effective communications in delivering excellence in customer service is acknowledged, 

and reflected in contact with staff that is welcoming, informative, responsive, courteous and positive. 
 

o Undertaking meaningful consultation with local people and involving them, and feeding back on how their views have informed service 
developments and change. 

 
o Ensuring local people have ongoing opportunities to compliment, complain and provide suggestions for improvement 

 

Value for Money 

1
5



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  10 

 
Breckland Council has a regional reputation for being at the very forefront of improvement in public services.  
 
All services, processes and infrastructure will undergo continuous review to achieve maximum value for money and we will: 
 

o Strive to achieve first-time answers to customer enquiries. 
o Minimise waiting and response times. 
o Review the current procedures for call handling and implement any required changes to improve performance. 
o Promote customer self-service. 
o Feedback into the Business Improvement Strategic Committee BISC on service priorities, service delivery, points of contact, 

accessibility and cost effectiveness, which result in changes to capital resources. 
o Continue to explore partnership opportunities with other organisations to share funding. 
o Endeavour to surpass our recent Mystery Shopper results 

 

Our customer charter and measures that we work towards 

 
 
o Calls will be answered by professional, customer focussed officers who will take ownership of your enquiry or request for service. 
 
o More than 5% of officers’ time to be spent on customer focussed training 

 
o Consistently achieving > 85% in the Customer Satisfaction Surveys 

 
o Finance Performance Expenditure < - 3% efficiency gain 

 
o Staff Satisfaction to be greater than 70% 
 
o Less than an average of 7 days lost due to sickness. 

 
o Face to face contact 85% of Customers to be seen within 10 minutes. 

 
 

Quality Management 

1
6



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  11 

 
Our Corporate Improvement Plan provides the foundation on how we work delivering efficiency and effectiveness as an organisation and as 
an employer. 
 
 
We will further facilitate the Plan by: 
 

o Employee Performance Development Reviews. 
 
o Performance Management - measurable performance standards for customer service including complaints handling. 

 
o Monitoring customer satisfaction. 

 
o Undertake End-to-End Process Review to ensure services delivered by Customer Contact & Service Centres work efficiently and 

effectively with Service Areas 
 

o Extensive training including NVQ’s in Customer Service. 
 

o Benchmarking against other councils and private organisations and actively participate in the Public Sector Benchmark Group. 
 

o Attaining recognised quality concepts such as Investors in People (IIP) award  
 

o Investment in ICT and suitable support mechanisms. 
 

o Introducing any remaining services, which are not currently handled by  the Customer Contact Centre by the end 2011 
 

o Reviewing and implementing any changes to procedures for call handling to further improvement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Governance 

1
7



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  12 

 
We have a lead Member and Director responsible for ensuring access to services is developed and improved. The Customer Contact Team 
Manager will carry out day to day performance and quality management and the following steps will also be taken to monitor the Customer 
Service provided by Breckland Council: 
 

o Performance against our Customer Service Standards will be publicised regularly. 
 
o The Head of Customer Services will ensure appropriate financial management of customer services. 

 
o A quarterly Performance Clinic is held with the Executive members and Service Director plus the Performance Management Team. 

The specific management information data captured via the HiPath Pro-centre reports and the Lagan Frontline reports, plus updates 
on projects are recorded using the TEN Performance Management software  

 
o Quality will be monitored through call coaching on a monthly basis and mystery shopping on a quarterly basis in collaboration with the 

Customer Access Network within Norfolk. (CAN County & District Councils + other Public sector and voluntary organisations)  
 

o We will present The Service Team Plan to the Full Council annually  
 
 

National Indicators & Project 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Act

NI14 
 
SP-CS 02 

f Text to Tell 
o Record avoidable contacts 
o Take note of customer feedback 
o Indentify trends and issues 
o Feedback to service areas to enable resolution  
o Amend process or correspondence integration of back office  

SP-CS 01 o Roll out of Council Tax Front Office Optimisation to all Customer service officers 

1
8



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  13 

ion Plan 2010 – 2012 
 
We have a clear vision for the delivery of services across multiple access channels. This is underpinned by existing initiatives including our 
Customer Contact Centre and current Customer Service Centres within our 5 Market Towns plus the Breckland website. 
 
Key: Short Term = 18 months Medium Term = 18 months to 3 years Long Term = 3 to 5 years 
 

 
 

Links to other 
Policies 

Actions 
 

Funding 
 

Timescale 

E-enabled 
service 

 
 
 

Web Strategy 
ICT Strategy 
Social Inclusion 
Strategy 

motion of Text to Tell 
o Review content and usage of Website  
o Promotion of Web Access 
o Enable self-service e-forms 
o Further integration of back office systems 
o Browsealoud 
o Promotion of Text/SMS usage 
o Digital TV   
o Tell Us Once – April 2010     Further k  

 
 
 

Website 
redevelopment plus 
ICT refresh 
programme 
 

 
 
 
Short Term 

Service 
Transformation 

 
 
 
Business Plan 
Service Team 
Plan  

 
o Continue to review service delivery using 
Systems thinking which places the customer at 
the heart of all we do 

o Review existing scripting, processes and case 
creation bringing to the Front any transactional 
processes to allow a One & Done. 

 

 
 

 
Efficiencies/Benefits 
realisations  

 
 
 
Ongoing 

 
Improve Service 

Levels 
for call handling 

 

 
Business Plan 
Service Team 
Plan 

 
o Corporate approach and standard 
o Measure Quality and outcomes above quantity 
o Increase resolution rate at first point of contact 
rather than hand-offs 

 

  
 
 
Short Term 

1
9



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  14 

 
Continued  

infrastructure 
and Network 
upgrade 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
ICT Strategy 
Social Inclusion      
Strategy 

 
o Build an infrastructure across the district to better 
enable speed and ease of access for both 
Officers and Customers   

o Upgrade or review our current digital telephony 
platform 

o Upgrade or review our current Contact centre 
telephone system HiPath Pro centre – to enable 
flexibility of call distribution regardless of 
location.  

o Upgrade our CRM system Lagan Frontline 6.1 to 
enable greater functionality 

o Install BPM to enable joined up working 
o Single repository of information – enabling 
everyone to equal access to consistent, accurate 
and up to date  

 

 
 
 
 
 
Customer Service 
Centre 
Infrastructure – 
Growth Bid (Capital 
Fund allocated) 
ICT refresh 
programme 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Long Term 

 
Customer 
Insight 

 

 
o Each service area will undertake a segmentation 
questionnaire, impression rating and create 
specific Action Plans.  

  
Ongoing 

 
Mobile Working 

/ Home 
Working 

 

o  o Working 
o Provide an increased number of staff with 
facilities for home working and/or mobile 
working. 

o  

o   
 
Medium Term 

 
Joint Town 
Centre 

Customer 
Service Centres 

 

 
 
Social Inclusion 
Strategy 
 

o Maximise opportunities of sharing resources with 
organisations within Breckland, offering ease of 
access to a cross section of public sector and 
voluntary services. 

  
 
Medium Term 

2
0



Breckland Council Customer Access Strategy 

Monica R Coffey Customer Programme Manager final version  15 

 
One-Stop-Shop 
& Mobile Bus 
(Migration 
Impact Fund)  
Project  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Sustainable 
Community Strategy 
2008-2011 

Social Inclusion 
Strategy 

o To strengthen the integration of new and migrant 
communities and improve the ability of such groups 
to access to services from public, private and 
voluntary sector bodies 

o Provide integrated solutions to the problems faced 
by both migrant citizens and all other communities, 
by providing all the services required to meet their 
needs, at a single point of contact. 

o Training of specialised staff to sort the various 
migrant and community requirements in order to 
better route users (by evaluating their queries and 
issues and verifying their documentation), thus 
contributing to speeding up the required 
procedures and access to services. 

o A holistic, comprehensive model - Citizen’s Shop 
and Bus contributes to improving efficiency in 
coordinating different actions and services and 
simplifies both access and resolution. 

o Contributes to minimising the distrust from 
communities accessing the services. 

o Serve to enhance a climate of cooperation and 
consultation between all of the stakeholders: Local 
Government, partner agencies, migrants, migrant-
led community groups, employers, trade unions 
and the public. 

o Ensuring that integration is a two-way process 
o A Citizen’s Shop and Bus will ease pressure on 
mainstream services and provide for better pooling 
of resources and information between 
organisations with relevant expertise in the area 
and to make efficiency cost-savings. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Department  of 
Communities and  
Local Government 
(CLG) awarded the 
Migration Impact 
Fund of 
£220,000.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Short Term 

Home 

2
1



BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 
Report of  the Director of Governance and Finance to the 
BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT  SUB-COMMITTEE – 30th March 2010 
 
SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT AND COMMISSIONING STRATEGY 
 

1. Purpose of Report 

This report seeks approval for a Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy, 
which supersedes the current Procurement Strategy. 

 

2. Recommendations 

 It is recommended that Cabinet: 

2.1 Approves the attached Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy. 

2.2 Directs the Policy and Performance Manager to align the objectives set out in the 
strategy with the Corporate Business Plan.  

 
Note:  In preparing this report, due regard has been had to equality of opportunity, 
human rights, prevention of crime and disorder, environmental and risk management 
considerations as appropriate.  Relevant officers have been consulted in relation to any 
legal, financial or human resources implications and comments received are reflected in 
the report. 
 

3. Information, Issues and Options 

3.1 Background 

3.1.1 The Local Government Act 1999 places a duty of Best Value on all authorities to 
secure continuous improvements in the way activities are carried out, having regard 
to a combination of efficiency, economy and effectiveness.  The National 
Procurement Strategy issued in October 2003 set out a vision for procurement 
practices by setting a number of milestones for Councils. Members will recall that the 
procurement strategy approved in January 2006 incorporated these milestones and 
this strategy was due to be replaced at the end of 2009.  A sustainable procurement 
strategy was also approved by Members in January 2008.   The Sustainable 
Procurement and Commissioning Strategy referred to in this report replaces the two 
individual strategies previously adopted by Members.  

3.2 Issues 

3.2.1 Procurement in Local Government has evolved considerably over the past few years 
and as a result the Procurement and Commissioning Strategy attached to this report 
is designed to reflect these changes whilst complimenting the National Procurement 
Strategy and the new Sustainable Procurement National Action Plan.  This new 
strategy also compliments the Council’s Strategic Business Plan which looks to 
improve outcomes for service users. 

3.3 Options 

3.3.1 Approve the updated Strategy 

3.3.2     Not to approve the updated strategy as presented and make amendments. 

3.4 Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

3.4.1 By adopting the updated strategy the Council will be embracing the principles laid 

Agenda Item 8

22



down in the Sustainable Procurement National Action Plan.  This will also be 
replicated  in Breckland’s Vision for procurement  as can be seen in 1.3 of the 
attached Sustainable  Procurement and Commissioning Strategy   

4. Risk and Financial Implications 

4.1 Risk  

4.1.1 There are two forms of risk associated with this Strategy.  The first risk is of not 
adopting the strategy which would have a detrimental effect on the Council’s CPA 
and Use of Resources assessments and, secondly, during any procurement a risk 
analysis is undertaken as part of the options appraisal. 

4.2 Financial  

4.2.1 This strategy complements the references made to achieving value for money 
through smarter procurement and will be seen as a key driver to obtain the efficiency 
gains necessary to achieve government targets, improve service delivery and 
achieve best value. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 None 

6. Other Implications    

a) Equalities:  - this will promote equality and diversity in procurement practices 
and policies, providing information and advice to our suppliers as necessary. 

b) Section 17, Crime & Disorder Act 1998:  - None 

c) Section 40, Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006:   - None 

d) Human Resources: - None 

e) Human Rights:  - None 

f) Other:  - None 

7. Alignment to Council Priorities 

7.1  All;- the strategy encompasses all the corporate priorities. 

8. Ward/Community Affected 

8.1 None 

 
Background Papers 
National Procurement Strategy 
Sustainable Procurement Task Force National Action Plan  
 
Lead Contact Officer: 
Name/Post: Lesley Heywood, Strategic Contract & Procurement Manager 
Telephone: 01362 656863 
Email: Lesley.Heywood@Breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision Status (Executive Decisions only): 
Non-Key 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Breckland’s Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy 

23



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 1of 30 March 2010 

 
Breckland’s Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy 

 
 
 
Foreword by the Leader of The Council 
 

Value for money in the delivery of quality public services is central to Breckland Council's 

ethos of putting people first. To deliver these services the Council employs some 300 

employees, far less than most comparable councils in the East of England, and has a revenue 

budget of some £50m for the procurement of goods, services and works. In order to maintain 

its policy of downward pressure on its district council tax, Breckland Council is constantly 

investigating ways of maximising the purchasing value of every tax pound spent, while using 

the efficiencies gained to increase the volume of services or to develop new ones, in the light 

of the publics requirements. 

 

There are numerous ways in which Breckland has led the way in the procurement of services;  

• The nationally recognised innovation of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership 

with Forest Heath Council, which was cited in a report by the Audit Commission as a 

successful example of large efficiencies gained through the provision of shared services.  

• A collaborative partnership with Capita Symonds for the delivery of planning and 

building control services. 

• A partnership with a private sector company for the provision on a new CCTV system for 

the district.  

There is much more that Breckland wants to do, from new procurement ideas for HR and ICT 

services through to setting up further commercial partnerships with the private sector, and 

working through shared services with neighbouring local authorities which will increase 

capacity with our staffing and provide the Council with a more symmetrical understanding of 

the market in goods, services and works. It will place the Council in a stronger position when 

choosing suppliers. 

 

The Strategy is supported by a Code of Practice and a Code of Ethics for all officers who are 

involved in the procurement of  goods, services and works.  In particular this strategy aims to 

get value for money.  

 

The Council has adopted this Strategy to underpin all links through to the Corporate Business 

Plan. 

 

 

 

 

Councillor William Nunn 

Leader of the Council 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

24



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 2of 30 March 2010 

 
Contents 
 
Foreword  
          Page  
1. Introduction        3 
 What is Procurement? 
 Background 
 Vision 
 Definitions 
 
2. Commissioning and Procurement     4 
 
3. Commissioning – The Future      5 
 Responsibility for Commissioning 
 Responsibility for Procurement 
 
4. The Strategy         5 
 Aims of the Strategy 
 
5. The Efficiency Agenda      6 
 R.I.E.P.s 
 
6. Procurement in Breckland      7 
 Collaboration and Public Buying Consortia 
 Competition and Competitiveness 
 
Main Commissioning and Procurement Themes    9 
 Strategic Commissioning      9 
 The Efficiency Agenda/Value for Money    10 
 The Enabling Council       11 
 Efficiency in Procurement      11 
 Procurement Resources, Learning and Development  12 
 Collaborative Procurement and Shared Services   13 
 E Procurement       14 
 Performance Management      15 
 Sustainable Procurement      15 
  Social Sustainability      15 
  Equality & Diversity      16 
  Environmental Procurement     17 
  Economic Sustainability     18 
 Managing Suppliers       19 
  Partnerships and Partnering     19 
  Small Businesses      19 
  Develop Market and Suppliers    20 
 Supply Chain Management      21 
    
 Appendices 
  Appendix A       22  

Framework for Benchmarking Services to Deliver Future Models of 
Service Delivery 
 

 Glossary        29 
  

 

25



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 3of 30 March 2010 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 What is Procurement 

 
The National Procurement Strategy published in October 2003 defined 
procurement as ”the process of acquiring goods, works and services, covering 
both acquisitions from third parties and from in-house providers.  The process 
spans the whole life cycle from identification of needs, through to the end of a 
works or services contract or the end of the useful life of an asset.  It involves 
option appraisal and the critical “make or buy” decision which may result in the 
provision of services   in-house in appropriate circumstances”. 
 
Procurement can range from the day to day purchasing of commodities to 
purchasing key strategic items (such as large capital assets), commissioning a 
service or buying an entire service.  Goods and services may be provided by 
internal or external providers and there are a number of different models for the 
provision of such services, such as private finance initiatives and public private 
partnerships.  
 

1.2 Background 
  

Procurement across local government has evolved considerably over the past 
few years and this is the third version of Breckland Council’s Procurement 
Strategy which is designed to support government initiatives such as the 
National Procurement Strategy and the Sustainable Procurement National 
Action Plan.  As a result this is now a Procurement and Commissioning 
Strategy which compliments Breckland Council’s Strategic Business Plan 2008-
2014 which looks to improve outcomes for service users. 
 

1.3 Vision 
 

To be proficient in the commissioning and procurement of best value 
sustainable services using innovative means where appropriate to meet the 
needs of the residents and businesses in Breckland.  
 
 

1.4 Definitions 
 
Commissioning and procurement consist of a series of activities and processes 
used by officers to ensure that best value for money is obtained in all the 
goods, works and services it requires.  A definition of this relationship is; 
 
Commissioning 
“Commissioning is defined as the entire cycle of assessing the needs of people 
in a local area, designing a services, and then securing them”. 
 
 Procurement 
“Procurement is defined as covering the specific activities relating to the whole 
life costing from advertising through to the final contract arrangements and the 
disposal of an asset”     
 
 
 
 
 

26



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 4of 30 March 2010 

This diagram illustrates the inter-relationship 
 

 
 
 

2. Commissioning and Procurement 
 
2.1 Before undertaking any procurement process it is recommended good practice 

to undertake a certain amount of research.  The list below shows the areas that 
should be researched as this will enable a robust, effective strategy;- 

 

• Establish service user and business need 

• Identify future needs and developments 

• Define key outcomes 

• Question whether the service needs to be provided 

• Question whether other agencies should be meeting some or all of the need 

• Understand the strengths and weaknesses of the current provision 

• Review best practice 

• Undertake market analysis, consultation and engagement. 

• Establish resources available and how they can be most effectively and 
efficiently deployed 

• Consider future contract arrangements for the new contract (s). 
 

27



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 5of 30 March 2010 

When taken together with the procurement process and contract 
implementation the process detailed above is now referred to as 
“commissioning” and the diagram in 1.4 shows how the two are interdependent. 
 
All commissioning strategies must include a section on the role of procurement 
and the Strategic Contracts and Procurement Manager should be contacted at 
an early stage.  This must also be in compliance with Contract Standing Orders 
as well as the European Procurement Directives.  It is recommended that 
advice should be sought from the Strategic Contracts and Procurement 
Manager and Legal Services. 

 
3. Commissioning – The Future 

 
3.1 The way in which the Council sets out to commission or procure services 

demonstrates its philosophy and aims to its stakeholders.  It recognises that it 
needs to develop commissioning as a tool to ensure the most appropriate and 
cost effective services are delivered to meet business and services users’ 
needs whilst ensuring the best outcomes for residents and service users. 

 
3.2 It is recognised that a common structure for commissioning for the Council in 

partnership with other bodies such as the PCT, neighbouring local authorities 
and other public bodies needs to be developed. 

 
3.3 Responsibility for Commissioning 
 

Strategic Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for commissioning in 
their service areas.  It is they who need to build the necessary business case to 
move commissioning projects forward 
 

3.4 Responsibility for Procurement 
 
 The Executive Member for Governance and Corporate Development has 

overall responsibility for procurement within Breckland.  The Strategic Director 
for Governance and Corporate Development has responsibility for procurement 
on the Corporate Management Team. 

 
The Strategic Contracts and Procurement Manager is located in the Policy and 
Performance team  Following a re-structure this team will have direct contract 
management responsibility for a number of cross service contracts. 
 

4. The Strategy 
 
4.1 This strategy has been written deliberately at a high level to keep it as 

accessible and understandable as possible whilst including the varied business 
needs of the Council.  As a result it is hoped that the various stakeholders will 
understand the Council’s aims and philosophy with regards to procurement.  
The strategy identifies the following; 

 

• Where we are now 

• Important issues and challenges ahead 

• Targets and when they are to be achieved 
 and 

• The Breckland Business Plan 2008-2014 

• Breckland’s Value for Money Strategy 

• The Equality and Diversity Guide for Procurement 

28



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 6of 30 March 2010 

 
4.2 Aims of the Strategy 

 

• To secure Member and officer level commitment to proficient 
commissioning and procurement. 

• To promote commissioning and procurement as a catalyst in the 
transformation of Council services. 

• To promote the Council as an enabler and encourage challenge of 
different methodologies of service provision. 

• To encourage long term service planning and correct strategic planning 
of procurement projects. 

• To provide a clear focus for commissioning and procurement practice 
within the Council. 

• To make positive contributions to delivering efficiency improvements 
and value for money thorough procurement of excellent and cost 
effective services. 

• To promote and encourage responsible procurement in terms of 
sustainability, environmental issues, equality and diversity. 

• By adopting and adapting the principles of world class commissioning 
practice as it develops for local authorities the Council will work in 
partnership with the PCT, the third sector, neighbouring local authorities 
and others where appropriate 

• To be an enabling Council 

• To facilitate learning and development in Procurement 

• To procure collaboratively  

• To identify areas where E procurement can assist in efficiencies 

• To assist in the development of performance management with regards 
to procurement 

 
5. The Efficiency Agenda 

 
The Comprehensive Spending Review in 2007 made clear references to 
achieving value for money through smarter procurement.  It is seen as a key 
driver to obtain the efficiency gains necessary to achieve government targets, 
improve service delivery and achieve best value. 
 

5.1 RIEPs 
 
Central Government has also formed Regional Improvement and Efficiency 
Partnerships (RIEPs).  Funding from Central Government is channelled into the 
RIEPs to fund efficiency improvements including “smarter procurement” – an 
explanation of which is given below. 
 
The Department of Communities and Local Government publication; 
“Delivering Value for Money in Local Government: Meeting the challenges of 
CSR07 “stated; 
 
“3.41The RIEPs have a central role to play.  They are currently developing 
Regional Improvement and Efficiency Strategies which will include actions to 
promote market development and shaping.  They will work to disseminate best 
practice, promote knowledge and strengthen capabilities to ensure Council’s 
approach those markets in the most effective way to deliver value for money.” 
 
and 
 

29



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 7of 30 March 2010 

“Smarter Procurement, Enhanced Competition” 
 
“D5 Actions to strengthen competition and market development are being taken 
forward in local services as a whole, complemented by actions to promote 
smarter procurement in strategic services on a sector by sector basis” 
 
 
With regards to procurement the RIEPS’ main focus will be; 

• Utilising a smaller number of consortia to harness purchasing power 

• Strengthening market intelligence data for Councils 

• Working with and promoting the Office of Government Commerce 
(OGC) to negotiate key deals and framework arrangements with 
powerful suppliers. 

• Working in partnership with Government to shape the local government 
strategic services markets to encourage diverse supply, secure 
alternative provision in uncontested services and increase capacity and 
competitiveness in existing markets. 

• Promoting professional procurement organisations and/or authorities 
providing a shared procurement service on behalf of significant clusters 
of Councils. 

 
At a local level the Council will be expected to:- 
 

• Collaborate on shared procurement services. 

• Utilise shared procurement services where there is a clear business 
case for doing so. 

• Utilise regional market intelligence data and provide feedback on it. 

• Increase the extent of sustainable procurement best practice 
approaches, including dealing with small and medium enterprises 
(SME’s) and the voluntary and community sector (VCS). 

• Regularly test competitiveness of services  and use fair and open 
competition for underperforming services wherever practical 

 
Breckland will be building on the work undertaken by the RIEP.  For example 
the Strategic Contracts and Procurement Manager is undergoing training for 
trainers on sustainability to help roll the sustainable procurement message out 
across the Eastern Region to Members and staff.  Breckland is in active 
member in the Procurement East Network (PEN) and is in discussions with 
other members of the group with regard to shared services. 
 

6. Procurement in Breckland  
 
6.1 Breckland Council is committed to maintaining high standards and efficiency in 

procurement in order to achieve best value for money thus releasing savings 
that can be used for areas of service priority.  All Members and Officers are 
expected to comply with the Procurement Code of Ethics and the following 
principles of Best Value procurement must be observed by all officers;- 

• Be open and transparent, comply with the relevant European and local 
legislation and encourage competition 

• Focus on delivery of effective services that meet the required outcomes 

• Evaluate on the basis of the most economically advantageous taking 
into account the service delivery, the economics and proportionality. 

• Reduction in administration and transactional costs. 

30



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 8of 30 March 2010 

• Compliance with this strategy, the Breckland Business Plan plus the 
Council’s core vision and values. 

• Delivering value for money. 
 

All services must demonstrate that they:- 

• Are focussed on positive outcomes for service users and meet those 
user’s needs. 

• Meet the Council’s Vision and values 

• Provide Value for money and are efficient, effective and economic. 

• Meet service business plan objectives 

• Are committed to equality and diversity in accordance with the Council’s 
equality and diversity policy. 

• Contribute to the aims of sustainable procurement and promote the well 
being of the environment. 

• Have effective management and performance management systems 
including robust contract management   

 
As part of any procurement a category strategy should be prepared using best 
practice principles.  These strategies should consider: 

• Renewal dates for large strategic contracts 

• Market opportunities and maturity 

• Opportunities for investigating new financial models for the procurement 
of services 

• Performance of services 

• Analysis of external spend 

• Analysis of non-pay expenditure 
 

The essence of a category strategy is to create the most value for the Authority 
by leveraging external resources and capabilities. Changes in business models, 
industry structures, technologies, customer demands, environmental 
regulations, and other factors change both how value is defined, and how 
external resources can help deliver that value. As a result, traditional ways of 
thinking about categories change as well.   Breckland as an authority looks 
beyond the goods and services they currently source from external parties, and 
defines strategies for whole new categories. The most common form of this 
occurs when options to outsource business processes and activities to reduce 
costs.  

 
The category strategy should include an options analysis comparing the 
following options : 

• Traditional procurement 

• Partnering 

• PFI/Public Private Partnership 

• Outsourcing 

• In-house service provision 
 The options analysis will include the following: 

• Cost 

• Service quality 

• Risk 

• Deliverability 

• Timescales 

• Funding 

• Practicality 

• Legal/statutory requirements 

31



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 9of 30 March 2010 

 
6.2 Collaboration and Public Buying Consortia 

 
Breckland will look to procure through existing framework contracts or procure 
in collaboration where it can be proven that they are appropriate and represent 
best value for money.  This will ensure that best value is delivered in terms of: 

• Aggregation of spend to produce economies of scale 

• Use of wider experience and greater expertise 

• Procurement efficiency (avoidance of multiple procurements and 
maverick purchases) 

 
6.3 Competition and Competitiveness 
 

The council will look to maximise and make best use of the market to provide 
services reliably, sustainably and ethically.  It will also seek to develop markets 
where competition is weak to improve competitiveness, supplier diversity and 
capacity. 
 
Services that are already provided externally will be monitored and kept under 
review to ensure planned re-procurement is undertaken appropriately to 
enhance service delivery, harness innovation and deliver best value. 
 

 
 

MAIN COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT THEMES 
 
 

Strategic Commissioning 
The Council has to identify need and develop best practice, affordable services which are fit for 
purpose and the future.  In order to achieve this a consistent approach to commissioning needs 
to be developed 

 

Aims 
Achieve excellence in Commissioning to benefit the service users. 

Where we are now Main Issues Objectives Year 
A number of service 
specific commissioning 

strategies are in place. 

There is no corporate 
framework for 
commissioning within the 

Council. 

Develop a corporate 
framework for 
commissioning and 
procurement with our 
strategic partners. 

 

 
 
 
 
Understanding of  
strategic commissioning 
is limited 

 
 
 
 
Best practice needs to be 
identified and developed 

Undertake a self  
assessment against the 
competencies as set out 
in “World Class 
Commissioning” 
 
Training and 
development will be 
provided to ensure best 
practice commissioning is 
carried out. 

 

The Council has 
engaged with strategic 
partners to achieve 
better outcomes for 
service users and 
residents. 

Strategic commissioning 
is not embedded within 
the Authority. 

All services to undertake 
commissioning before 
major procurement 
projects are undertaken 

 

32



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 10of 30 March 2010 

 
 

The Efficiency Agenda/Value for Money 
The Governments Comprehensive Spending Review 2007 (CSR07) requires the Council to 
achieve 3% cashable savings year on year from 2008-9 to 2010-11. The methodology on how 
this saving is being achieved is set out in the Council’s Value for Money Strategy.  There is 
pressure on procurement and transformation of service delivery to achieve a large part of the 
savings required to balance the Council’s budget over the nest three year. 

 

Aims 
First class sustainable procurement will be employed to achieve innovative and value for money 
provision of services. 
Where we are now Main Issues Objectives Year 

The Council has a 
current Value for Money 
Strategy 
 
 
A formal procurement 
savings register is 
compiled. 

 
 
 
 
 
It can be difficult to 
identify and secure the 
actual savings within 
services. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
A standard method for 
assessing savings to be 
developed. 
 
 

 

A Corporate 
procurement strategy 
and a sustainable 
procurement strategy 
are in place 

The strategies relating to 
procurement need to 
embedded. 
 
Departments do not 
always develop formal 
strategies before 
undertaking procurement. 
 
An analysis needs to be 
undertaken to establish 
whether other more 
economic items or 
services could deliver 
service outcomes 
effectively. 
 
The concept of saving by 
buying less or not buying 
is not embedded as fully 
as it could be 
 

The methodology by 
which all major 
procurement projects will 
be approved by the 
Strategic Contracts and 
Procurement Manager 
and will be agreed by 
CMT. 
 
Based on the assessment 
deliver “World Class 
improvements in  
Commissioning” across 
Council Services. 
 
 
 
 
We will develop guidance 
for spend avoidance 

 

Breckland uses 
consortia arrangements 
for procurement. 

Further opportunities to 
procure regionally and 
sub-regionally. 

Working close with RIEP 
and PEN we will increase 
collaboration with other 
Authorities in the East of 
England to achieve 
savings 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 11of 30 March 2010 

 
 

The Enabling Council 
Breckland operates a policy of using both internal and external providers as best delivers quality 
services at an affordable price.  This has entailed externalising services and could bring services 
back in-house to achieve value for money.   This strategy needs to be developed further to take 
full account of emerging options for service delivery including strategic bundling of services, 
shared services with other local authorities and collaborative procurement. 

 

Aim 
Strategic Procurement and Commissioning will be employed to survey the service delivery 
routes and work with other Local Authorities to develop and use the market to increase quality 
and cost efficiency of services. 
Where we are now Main Issues Objectives Year 

Current services are 
reviewed to determine 
where efficiencies could 
be achieved ( see 
appendix A) 

The methodology 
employed for assessment 
is the same but the 
results vary. 

All Council services to be 
reviewed during the 
lifetime of this strategy. 

 

Breckland is working 
closely with 
neighbouring authorities 
and considering options 
for shared services 

Needs, priorities and 
approaches differ 
between councils.  
Commitment will be 
required to achieve 
consensus. 

Develop a working 
protocol with 
neighbouring authorities.  
Achieve synergy in 
service delivery so that 
collaborative procurement 
can succeed. 

 

 
 

Efficiency in Procurement 
To achieve the efficiencies and transformation of services it is necessary to be able to procure in 
a sustainable and legal manner.  

 

Aims 
Procurement will be carried out in the most proficient manner possible. A Procurement Toolkit 
has been designed to assist all staff and procurement will follow the procedures contained 
therein.  This toolkit describes the methodology required for efficient procurement firstly looking 
to utilise corporate contracts, then existing regional frameworks and national frameworks as this 
delivers economies of scale for a small Council.  Any procurement not carried out through these 
frameworks will use standardised processes and documentation to ensure compliance with 
standing orders.   

Where we are now Main Issues Objectives Year 
Breckland Corporate 
Contracts register is on 
the Authority’s Intranet 

Use of corporate 
contracts is not fully 
embedded. 

Regular monitoring of 
spend and off contract 
spend to be formalised 
and action taken to 
achieve compliance, 

 

The Procurement Toolkit 
which is on the 
Authority’s Intranet plus 
the pocket procurement 
guide which has been 
issued to all officers  
directs officers to use 
national and regional 
framework agreements 
and contract where 
possible.  Advice and 
support is readily 
available from the 

Use of regional and 
national framework 
agreements and 
contracts is embedded 
within the Council. 
 
For the less common 
procurements a 
framework agreement 
can be difficult to find. 
 
Not all contracts that are 
let by Breckland and its 

Working in conjunction 
with RIEP and PEN 
greater use will be made 
of the Procurement Hub 
which shows all available 
contracts both regionally 
and nationally. 
 
 
 
 
Through working with 
RIEP, PEN and the 

 

34



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 12of 30 March 2010 

Strategic Contracts and 
Procurement Manager 

neighbouring authorities 
are made open to other 
authorities. 

Norfolk procurement 
Officers group to 
encourage framework 
contracts to be let as 
often as is practically 
possible. 
 

Standard procurement 
practices and 
procedures are available 
on the Council Intranet. 

Standardised 
documentation needs to 
be produced to ensure 
compliance with 
regulations. 

All documentation relating 
to procurement to be 
compliant with 
regulations. 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Procurement Resources, Learning and Development 
It is essential that the Council has sufficient and suitably qualified and trained staff in order to 
achieve effective professional procurement.  Staff involved in procurement within Breckland 
Council need to be capable of dealing with procurement issues across a diverse range of 
subjects whilst ensuring that it is compliant with Corporate Standing Orders and European 
legislation. 
Aim 
To ensure that the Council has adequately trained professional procurement resources to 
undertake projects, effectively,  efficiently and legally. 

Where we are now Main Issues Objectives Year 
The majority of 
procurement is carried 
out by departments. 

A lack of a consistent 
approach across the 
Council. 
 
Adequate timescales are 
not always allowed fro 
procurement. 

 
Implementation of a 
system to provide 
advance warning for 
procurement projects and 
a consistent approach. 

 

In house training has 
been provided by the 
Strategic Contracts and 
Procurement Manager 

This is not carried out on 
a regular basis and those 
officers undertaking 
procurement have 
sufficient up to date 
knowledge including 
governance and best 
practice. 

A programme of 
procurement learning to 
be developed 

 

There has been reliance 
on consultants and 
temporary staff to assist 
with procurement 
projects. 

The use of consultants 
and temporary staff has 
detracted from the council 
up skilling its existing 
officers.  This has also 
led to an inconsistent 
approach to 
commissioning and 
procurement. 

A programme of 
procurement learning to 
be developed 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 13of 30 March 2010 

 
 
 

Collaborative Procurement and Shared Services 
Procurement activities have a significant cost in their own right.  Along with acknowledged 
shortages of skilled procurement professionals in local government, resources need to ne used 
as efficiently as possible. 

Aim 
To make the best use of shared services, collaborative procurement and consortia 
arrangements to obtain the benefits of aggregation of spend, use of expertise and reduce tender 
timescales. 

Where we are now Main Issues Objectives Year 
Breckland Council uses 
consortia arrangements 
and OGC Buying 
Solutions. 
 
Breckland Council is a 
member of regional and 
national public 
procurement bodies 
which exist to share best 
practice. 

 
 
 
 
To benchmark consortia  
arrangements to ensure 
best value is obtained 

 
 
 
 
Continued use of 
consortia arrangements 

 

Breckland has carried 
out joint procurements 
with neighbouring local 
authorities. 

Working with partners 
Breckland will identify 
categories of 
procurement that would 
benefit from aggregation 
and joint procurement. 

 

Breckland is actively 
looking for opportunities 
for shared services. 

Authorities’ local political 
complexion, views on 
regeneration, support for 
SME’s and access to 
special needs funding 
can affect the 
practicalities of joint 
working. 
 
Alignment of separate 
authorities’ priorities, 
needs, values and current 
service performance can 
prove difficult. 
 
The benefits of joint 
procurement do not 
necessarily accrue evenly 
to all those involved 
 
 

Breckland through its 
senior management team 
will establish how sharing 
and collaboration can be 
best undertaken.  
 
The project assessing the 
benefits of shared 
procurement will be 
assessed. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 14of 30 March 2010 

 
 
 

E Procurement 
E procurement can assist the overall development of procurement processes and can come in 
many guises, such as procure to pay systems, e-auctions and p-cards.  Breckland does have an 
e-procurement strategy which compliments this strategy. 

 

Objective 
E-procurement is a means of automating processes within procurement and as a result it: 

• Reduces transaction costs 

• Makes processes more efficient 

• Improves management information and visibility of spend 

• Increases control and consistency of processes 

• Improves spend compliance 

 

Where we are now Main Issues Targets Year 
An intranet site has been 
developed to provide 
guidance to all staff 

Staff do not always 
access the site for 
information 

A programme of 
procurement learning to 
be developed 

 

P cards have been 
introduced in the latter 
part of 2009 

Staff are not following 
procedures given in their  
training. 

Further training and 
education with regard to 
budgets to be given to 
users. 

 

No e-auctions have been 
carried out. 

Cannot justify the use of 
this due to a low spend in 
relevant areas. 

When ESPO carry out an 
e-auction in a relevant 
area to utilise the 
framework. 

 

No requirement for the 
use of an e-marketplace. 

With the introduction of p 
cards and the use of 
collaborative 
arrangements it is felt that 
this would not make the 
best use of council 
money in implementing 
an e-marketplace. 

This could be reviewed 
as part of the programme 
of shared services 

 

Tender advertisements 
are placed on the 
Council’s web site 

To look into the possibility 
of setting up an e-
tendering system. 

 

There is a “Selling to the 
Council Guide” on the 
website. 

There is no discrete 
electronic system and not 
all the features of such 
are available on the 
website 

To update as necessary  

The Councils purchase 
orders and invoices are 
on an electronic system 
but this is not a purchase 
to pay system.  Invoices 
can be received 
electronically but they 
have to be then input 
onto the purchase ledger 
system. 

Current financial system 
does not have a purchase 
to pay system. 

Facilitate the electronic 
issue of purchase orders 
and receipt of electronic 
invoices. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

37



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 15of 30 March 2010 

 
 
 

Performance Management 
A set of indictors developed by the Audit Commission and recognised by RIEP will be used as a 
basis for performance management.  Whilst these indicators are not mandatory , they will be 
refined to  ensure they are of relevance to Breckland. 

 

Objective 
To develop a simple model comprising a small number of high level indictors which can be 
drilled down further if required.  To enable the identification of best practice and  focus on the 
outcomes of efficiency and effectiveness.  The indicators are; 

• That the procurement function is cost effective and appropriate to the Council. 

• Procurement supports the delivery of the Council’s objectives, cote values and vision. 

• Procurement processes are undertaken in an efficient, timely and effective manner. 

• Procurement understands the requirement of the demand and the business 
requirements for goods and services. 

• The Procurement function has a good understanding of markets and manages suppliers 
effectively. 

• Appropriate use is made of technology to support the organisations procurement activity 
to achieve efficient and effective delivery. 

• That the procurement function supports the organisation in achieving cost reduction. 

• Corporate social responsibility is appropriately addressed and serious consideration in 
the procurement of goods and services is given to sustainability. 

• That other end users/customers are satisfied with the services provided by 
procurement. 

 

Where we are now Main Issues Targets Year 
A set of indicators exits 
which has been 
suggested by 
organisations such as 
the Audit Commission, 
CIPFA and RIEP. 

To determine the most 
relevant set of indictors,  
This is being discussed at 
the Norfolk procurement 
Officer’s Group. 

To adopt an agreed set of 
indicators 

 

 
 

Sustainable Procurement 
 
Good procurement is sustainable procurement.  It includes three pillars of 
sustainable development; social, environmental and economic.  As such sustainable 
procurement comes under responsible procurement an takes account of all the 
following elements, transparency, fairness, non-discrimination, competition, 
accountability and verifiability. 
 
The aim with any procurement is to achieve value for money on a whole life basis  in 
terms of generating benefits not only for the Council but also for society and the 
economy whilst minimising damage to the environment.  Procurement best exhibits 
sustainability if it results in effective low maintenance high benefit solutions. 
 
The following themes are included in this section:- 
 
 

Social Sustainability 
Suppliers employ a large workforce to deliver our Council Services of which many will be local 
people.  It is vital for both for effective service delivery and employee well being that this 
workforce is properly trained and employed under legal and fair conditions. 

 

38



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 16of 30 March 2010 

Aims 
To achieve community benefits in terms of a local well trained workforce with relevant skills.  
To ensure our suppliers and contractors are committed to legal and ethical requirements 
including good work force management. 

Where we are now Main Issues Objectives Year 
Health and safety 
requirements are built 
into contracts 

Monitoring of health and 
safety and other issues is 
not consistently 
monitored in all contracts 

 

Contractors are required 
to ensure staff  are 
suitably trained. 
 
Method statements are 
required from tenderers 
regarding staff 
recruitment and training. 

 
 
Work force training plans 
are not always required 
from contractors on an 
ongoing basis. 

 
 
 
Guidance will be provided 
to contract managers to 
enhance consistent 
contract monitoring. 

 

Ethical issues are not 
considered consistently 
in procurement projects 

It is not east to apply a 
standard ethical 
procurement policy 
across all areas of 
activity. 
 
 
 
Legislation places limits 
on consideration of 
ethical issues in 
procurement 

Ethical guidance is 
included in the 
sustainable procurement 
guide and this will be 
brought to the attention of 
officers when training 
takes place.   
 
We will ask contractors to 
demonstrate their 
commitment to ethical 
sourcing 

 

 
 

 

Equality & Diversity 
In accordance with the Breckland Equality Standard for Procurement we will treat all people with 
dignity and respect whilst valuing the diversity of all.  Breckland will promote equality of 
opportunity and eliminate all forms of discrimination in service delivery and employment.  
Working together with partners procurement will be used to promote and influence suppliers to 
adopt a positive approach to Equality and Diversity  

Objective 
To promote equality and diversity in procurement practices and policies, providing information 
and advice to our suppliers as necessary.  

Where we are now Main Issues Targets Year 
Equality and diversity 
questions are asked in 
pre qualification 
questionnaires. 

 

Suppliers are required to 
meet current Equality 
and Diversity legislation. 
 

 
 
Ensuring all departments 
are aware of the Equality 
and Diversity legislation 
and this is monitored in 
council tenders and 
contracts. 

 
 
Guidance will be provided 
to contract managers to 
enhance consistent 
contract monitoring 

 

To ensure standard 
Equality and Diversity 
clauses are included in 
the terms and conditions 
of contracts. 

Breckland Council does 
not have standard terms 
and conditions of contract 
and therefore each 
contract will have to be 
looked at in isolation to 
ensure the equality and 
diversity legislation is 
applicable. 

Appropriate clauses will 
be reviewed by Legal 
Services when required.  

 

39



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 17of 30 March 2010 

Equality impact 
assessment should be 
undertaken on all 
changes to service 
provision. 

   

Procurement 
opportunities are 
advertised on the 
Council’s web site and 
advertised in local and 
national publications 
when required.  

There is no evidence 
collated to evidence how 
many suppliers access 
the information on tender 
opportunities. 

 

Meet the Buyer events 
are held twice a year 
which the Strategic 
Contracts and 
Procurement Manager 
attends. 

Is Breckland Council 
reaching all the suppliers 
who may wish to tender 
fro Council business? 

 
 
 
 
Work in partnership with 
the Economic 
Development Team to 
establish if any 
groups/sectors may be 
under represented. 

 

 
 

Environmental Procurement 
Purchasing goods and services environmentally (or green purchasing) is a priority for Breckland.  
Council agreed that environmentally friendly purchasing will be chosen if it is at no additional cost to 
the Council.  With more services being outsourced procurement has the opportunity to have a 
positive influence on reducing Breckland’s environmental impact and maximising the use of 
renewable resources. 

Objective 
To minimise effects on the environment by using environmental consideration as an evaluation 
factor in procurement and working with suppliers to continuously reduce such impacts. 

Where we are now Main Issues Targets Year 
All tenders for contracts 
over £75,000 are asked 
”What evidence have 
you got to show 
Breckland that you are 
reducing the amount of 
energy and waste 
emanating from your 
business?” 

 

The Green Purchasing 
Policy’s aim is; 
“Breckland Council will 
endeavour to purchase 
goods/services that are 
as green/sustainable as 
possible as long as the 
functionality of the 
goods/services are not 
compromised and it is 
within existing budgets”. 

 

Where applicable 
ISO140001 accreditation 
is asked for when going 
out to tender. 

This should be asked on all 
contracts with suppliers. 
 
Although all staff have attended a 
presentation on the Green 
Purchasing Policy and the 
Sustainable Procurement Guide 
this advice is not always referred 
to when contracting with 
suppliers. 
 
Environmental requirements are 
based upon contract value rather 
than the environmental impact of 
each procurement. 
 
Environmental impacts are not 
always considered early enough 
in the procurement process and 
do not always get the attention 
they merit. 
 
It is difficult to predict or monitor 
the long term effects of existing 
procurement processes. 
 
Determining the most 
environmentally friendly option 
can be complex.  Technical 
support and detailed assessment 

To amend the 
standing orders to 
ensure that all 
tenders and contracts 
contain an 
environmental policy. 
 
 
Identify highest areas 
of environmental 
impact in 
procurement spend. 
 
Develop a new 
environmental 
procurement policy to 
concentrate 
environmental 
procurement 
attention to where 
there is the greatest 
environmental impact 
and ability to reduce 
it. 
 
Increase input of 
environmental 
expertise (both 
internal and external) 
to procurement 

 

40



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 18of 30 March 2010 

of environmental impacts of 
service delivery options is not 
readily obtainable. 
 
Policy is focussed on supplies 
rather than services. 
 
Policy is not applying the 
Council’s environmental 
aspirations and policies to all 
contracts. 
 

processes to ensure 
sound environmental 
solutions. 
 
 

 
 

Economic Sustainability 
Breckland’s vision is to be an area where local people live, work an play whilst contributing 
significantly to the regional economy , with the lowest environmental impact. 

Objective 
To ensure that actions taken by procurement develop the market, increase competition and to 
ensure that no sector of the market is excluded. 

Where we are now Main Issues Targets Year 
The market is 
researched before 
procurement projects 
start to encourage and 
develop the market 

This consultation does 
not always take place at 
the most appropriate time 
and when procurement is 
not pre-planned this may 
be missed or ineffective 

Market consultation 
requirements will be 
reinforced in our 
procurement toolkit 

 

Supplier’s financial 
standing is assessed 
within the tender process 
 

The risks are not the 
same in all contracts and 
financial assessment can 
work against small 
suppliers, new 
businesses and third 
sector organisations. 

A risk management 
approach will be 
developed to ensure 
these sectors are 
encouraged to compete. 

 

Fair trade goods are 
purchased when 
appropriate 

Availability of goods and 
cost. 

To work closely with 
consortia to encourage 
the use of fair trade 
goods 

 

The Council does buy 
from some local 
suppliers. 

Sourcing goods and 
services from local 
suppliers can be seen as 
anti-competitive and it 
does not always 
represent best value or 
sustainability. 

To encourage local 
suppliers to attend the 
“meet the Buyer” events 
and learn how to tender 
for public sector 
contracts. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

41



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 19of 30 March 2010 

Managing Suppliers 
 
Supplier diversity is essential to a competitive market that can supply the Council and 
its service users requirements and provide value for money.  Interaction needs to be 
undertaken with this market and the suppliers within it to understand their views and 
what enables and encourages diverse parts of this market to bid for work with the 
Council.  At the same time relationships with suppliers must be reciprocally 
productive and that there are shared objectives. 
 
The following areas are covered in this section: 
 

Partnerships and Partnering 
Breckland is committed to working with suppliers in partnership.  Innovative service design is 
encouraged and risk is shared. 
 

Objective 
To improve relationships with local public bodies and the voluntary sector whilst delivering world 
class services at lowest possible cost. 

Where we are now Main Issues Targets Year 
There are a number of 
large contracts where we 
have partnerships with 
the private sector. 

The expectations of 
partnership are not 
always clearly set out 
 
Partnership working and 
partnering is not 
considered as widely as it 
could be. 
 
The “benefits” of 
partnership and 
partnering are not always  
Monitored.  

The contract monitoring 
team to develop a 
protocol of what is 
expected from suppliers.  
 
A methodology needs to 
be identified partnership 
and partnering 
opportunities when 
reviewing services. 
 
Robust contract 
monitoring and 
benchmarking needs to 
be developed to ensure 
the Council is achieving 
value for money out of 
partnerships and 
partnering. 

 

 
 

 

Small Businesses  
As a result of this procurement strategy it is an objective to develop an environment where there 
is recognition that there is a genuine place in the market for developing local businesses and to 
encourage them to seek business opportunities through the Council.  This is to be carried out in 
conjunction with the Economic Development Team. 

Objective 
To: 

• Prove that purchasing locally is not incompatible with value for money and efficiency 

• Highlight barriers which act to prevent SME’ s from tendering and try to rectify them. 

• Identify national and regional initiatives to improve SME participation in the marketplace. 

Where we are now Main Issues Targets Year 
Standard tender 
documentation is used 
by the Strategic 
Contracts and 
Procurement Manager. 

Low value tenders are 
written by individual 
departments and 
specifications are not 
always written in plain 
English. 

To standardise 
documentation. 

 

42



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 20of 30 March 2010 

Breckland’s “Selling to 
the Council Guide” is 
available on the web 
site. 
 
 
Tender advertisements 
are on the web site. 
 
The web site also 
provides links to other 
tender opportunities to 
Authorities within the 
East of England 

 
 
Publicising where to find 
this information and 
encouraging businesses 
to use it. 
 
Possible lack of 
understanding of the 
SME’ s issues with 
regards to responding to 
tenders 

 
 
The “Selling to the 
Council” Guide to be re-
written as necessary. 
 
 
Attend selling to the 
Buyer Events and 
Breakfast Workshops 
with suppliers. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Develop Market and Suppliers 
Breckland is committed to working with suppliers to deliver best value to meet the expectations 
of better procurement. 
 

Objective 
To develop relationships with suppliers to create mutually advantageous, flexible and long term 
relations based on continuous improvement of quality, performance and financial savings. 

Where we are now Main Issues Targets Year 
Some appreciation of the 
existing market and its 
suppliers.  

Need clarification on how 
cost and quality can be 
measured which in turn 
will give a full assessment 
of success or failure. 

 

Consult with the market 
to build an 
understanding of the 
relationship between 
procurement and 
commissioning and how 
they work together fro 
best effect. 

The ability to identify 
categories of work and 
where little competition 
exists and to encourage 
market growth. 

 

Consult with the 
community and 
customer to establish 
their needs. 

To consult further and 
research all groups and 
stakeholders. 

Increase market 
consultations to obtain 
knowledge of how 
services can be delivered 
more effectively. 
 
Use commissioning to 
identify gaps in the 
market and thus develop 
the market to meet users 
needs in innovative ways. 
 
Engage with users to 
achieve affordable 
services/goods. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 21of 30 March 2010 

Supply Chain Management 
The Supply Chain is the linked set of resources and processes that begins with the sourcing of 
raw material and extends through the delivery of end items to the final customer. It includes 
vendors, manufacturing facilities, logistics providers, internal distribution centres, distributors, 
wholesalers and all other entities that lead up to final customer acceptance. The extended 
supply chain for a given company may also include sub contractors, and the customers of their 
immediate customers. 

Objective 
To encourage as far as is possible and practicable the supply chain to conform to our policies, 
ethos and goals. 

Where we are now Main Issues Targets Year 
Supply chain 
management is not 
carried out as a 
continual or consistent 
process and there is no 
system in place to 
capture this information. 

The understanding of the 
whole supply chain and 
how to capture the 
information whilst 
learning from any 
anomalies.   
 
Contractors are not 
required to show how and 
when they make use of 
SME’s or other suppliers 
in their supply chain. 
 

To manage the flow of 
information, between the 
client, contractor and any 
sub contractors 
identifying conflicts in this 
strategy in the process. 
 
Tenderers will be asked 
to supply information 
regarding their supply 
chain and whether sub 
contractors are SMEs. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

44



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 22of 30 March 2010 

APPENDIX A 
 

Service Assessment Tool 
 

Framework for Benchmarking Services to Determine Future Models of Service 
Delivery 

 
Initial Assessment Tool 

 
This guidance is intended as the initial assessment of services to provide an 
indication of whether the respective service should be examined further to improve 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness and at the same time to provide for future 
management of service risk and service sustainability and delivery issues. 
 
Whilst this toll provided initial yes/no assessment criteria there will be a further need 
for supporting data to be provided for the internal peer review which will decide how 
service improvement is to be moved forward and whether a more in depth 
assessment needs to be undertaken. 
 
The rationale for only having a yes/ no assessment is to force an initial judgement.  
This judgement will then be  supported by a subsequent analysis and relevant data. 
 
The assessment is broken down into six areas; 

• Economy 

• Efficiency 

• Effectiveness 

• Risk 

• Future Needs Assessment and Opportunity 

• Overview of Assessment Results 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 23of 30 March 2010 

1. Economy Market Testing Indicator 

 Yes No 
Cost- Comparison of unit costs   
(Breckland against other council’s unit costs and any other 
relevant comparisons). 
 
Is the unit cost high?  Would this indicate a need to market test or 
at least to review component cists 

  

Specification – Service Delivery   
Does the service delivered fail to meet specification 
requirements? 
Overall would market testing deliver a service which meets 
service requirements? 

  

Specification – Level of Service Required   
Does the specification over or understate the necessary level of 
service? 
Overall would this indicate a need for market testing to achieve a 
change in level of service? 

  

Affordability   
Would market testing improve the affordability of the service?   

Economy – Overall Assessment 

Brief description of findings under this section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Yes No 
Do the results under this section support externalisation?   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 24of 30 March 2010 

 
 

2. Efficiency Market Testing Indicator 

 Yes No 
Use of assets and resources   
Could use of assets and resources be better utilised? 
 
Is there spare capacity? 
 
Would an alternative provider be able to use assets and 
resources more efficiently (e.g. economies of scale) and thereby 
deliver a more cost efficient service to the Council? 

  

Wastage and lost productivity   
Is their wastage due to lost or down time due to poor 
equipment and infrastructure? 
 
Would such wastage be reduced by using an alternative 
provider?  Would an external provider be better able to provide 
investment in equipment and infrastructure? 

  

Human Resourcing   
Is there any use of inappropriate or unnecessarily expensive 
human resources? (e.g. consultants and temporary workers). 
Is there sufficient flexibility in resourcing to deal with peaks 
and troughs in service need? (i.e. avoiding high costs to 
cover peaks and avoiding wastage in troughs). 
 
Could an alternative provider provide the necessary human 
resources/skills better through a multi customer or shared 
service? 

  

Use of Other Resources   
Are assets and resources used in the service scarce and 
expensive? (e.g. buildings, plant, vehicles, equipment). 
 
Would an outside organisation be better placed to resource the 
service with similar services for other organisations? 
 

  

   
   
   
   

Effectiveness – Overall Assessment 

Brief description of findings under this section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Yes No 
Do the results under this section support externalisation?   

 
 
 
 
 

47



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 25of 30 March 2010 

 
 
 

3. Effectiveness Market Testing Indicator 

 Yes No 
Meeting Performance Targets   
Does the service fail to meet its performance targets? 
 
Would an alternative provider be in a better position to do so? 

  

CPA Achievement   
Is the service CPA rating in the lower two quartiles? 
 
If so would offering the service to the market provide the fastest 
route to sustainable CPA score improvement? 

  

Meeting and Legislative Requirements?   
Has the service failed to meet legislative requirements? 
 
If so is the external market in a better position to deliver the 
necessary changes (and provide investment)? 

  

Feedback and Complaints   
Does the service user and stakeholder feedback (including 
complains) indicate that the service is not performing to 
requirements? 
 
If so would an alternative provider be more likely to be able to 
provide a service to the standard required by service users and 
stakeholders? 

  

Sustainability   
Would an external provider be better able to sustain delivery of 
the service (e.g. workforce issues and infrastructure issues)? 

  

Quality Monitoring   
Are there insufficient arrangements for quality control and service 
monitoring? 
 
Would such quality control and service monitoring be improved by 
the Council doing this and an external contract delivering the 
service? 

  

Environmental   
Could environmental impact be reduced through private or 
independent sector knowledge and ability to invest? 

  

Effectiveness – Overall Assessment 

Brief description of findings under this section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Yes No 
Do the results under this section support externalisation?   

 
 
 

48



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 26of 30 March 2010 

 
 
 

4. Risk Market Testing Indicator 

 Yes No 
Risk: No Market   
Is there a viable, quality external market for the service?   
Risk: Poor Service   
Do external market suppliers perform well when supplying this 
service? 
 
Is their performance likely to be consistently as good or better 
than an in-house service? 

  

Risk: Service not sustained and service failure   
Is an alternative provider likely to be able to sustain services and 
avoid service failure better than an in-house service? 

  

Risk; Failure to comply with Breckland’s values   
Would an external provider be capable of delivering the service in 
accordance with Breckland’s framework of values ( 
environmental, sustainability, social inclusion, equality and 
diversity, working with SME’s and VCS) as well or better than in 
house? 

  

Risk: Reduction in CPA performance   
Is it likely that the Council’s CPA rating would improve if the 
service was provided by an alternative provider( if it were likely to 
diminish mark “No”) 

  

Risk: Control of Cost   
Would an external provider or a shared service provider be better 
able to control the cost of the service to the Council? 

  

Risk: Council loss of reputation   
Would the Council’s reputation be enhanced if the service was 
provided by an external provider or a shared service? 

  

Risk – Overall Assessment 

Brief description of findings under this section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Yes No 
Do the results under this section support externalisation?   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

49



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 27of 30 March 2010 

 
 
 
 

5. Future Delivery Needs Assessment and Opportunity Market Testing Indicator 

 Yes No 
Future Changes in Demand or Legislation   
Would an alternative provider be better placed to cope with 
changes in demand or legislation for this service over time? (e.g. 
investment in developing new facilities and services) 
 
Would a contractor be more able to innovate and adapt? 

  

Developing Opportunities – Market   
Are there opportunities developing in the market which would 
make outsourcing a more effective solution? 

  

Developing Opportunities – Shared Services   
Are there emerging opportunities to provide the service through 
partnering, collaboration or shared services with other 
organisations, which would give improved affordability, service 
sustainability together with economies of scale? 

  

Delivery of Continuous Improvement   
Would an alternative provider be in a stronger position to deliver 
continuing service improvement? 

  

Conserving Council Resources   
Would the Council avoid future demands on scarce capital and 
revenue resources by having the service provided by an 
alternative provider? 

  

Future Delivery Needs Assessment and Opportinity – Overall Assessment 

Brief description of findings under this section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Yes No 
Do the results under this section support externalisation?   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 28of 30 March 2010 

 
 
 
 
 

6. Overview of Assessment Results Market Testing Indicator 

 Yes No 
 
Economy 
 

  

 
Efficiency 
 

  

 
Effectiveness 
 

  

 
Risk 
 

  

Future Delivery Need Assessment   
 

OVERVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

51



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 29of 30 March 2010 

 
GLOSSARY 

 
 

Audit Commission – body established under the Local Government Finance Act 
1982, to appoint auditors to all local authorities in England and Wales. 
 
BME – Black and Minority Ethnic persons or groups, the preferred umbrella term 
used in official circles in Britain. 
 
Byatt Report – A review of local government in England June 2001. 
 
CIPFA – The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
 
CMT – The Corporate Management Team 
 
Communities and Local Government – Is the United Kingdom Government 
department with responsibility for communities and local government since May 
2006.  It was formerly known as the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister. 
 
CPA – Comprehensive Performance Assessment.  Conducted by the Audit 
Commission (see above), a CPA seeks to “…. measure how well councils are 
delivering services for local people and communities.” 
 
CSR07 – The Comprehensive Service Review 2007 was a government process 
carried out by H.M. Treasury to set firm and fixed three-year departmental 
expenditure limits and, through public service agreements, defines the key 
improvements that the public can expect from these resources. 
 
E-auction – Electronic auction, ‘reverse e-auctions’ are used to enable buyers to 
gain the lowest price. 
 
EIA – Equality Impact Assessment. 
 
EMAS – the Eco Management and Audit Scheme is a voluntary European initiative 
designed to help organisations manage and improve their environmental 
performance. 
 
European Procurement Directive -  European Union regulation which governs 
public sector contracts within the European Union. 
 
Fair Trade – Ethical sourcing 
 
IDeA – Improvement and Development Agency 
 
ISO14001 – The ISO14001 standard for environmental accreditation. 
 
LGA – the local Government Association promotes the interests of English and 
Welsh local authorities.  A total of just under 500. 
 
Method Statement – A document prepared by a contractor setting out how a service 
will be delivered. 
 

52



 

 
Breckland Council Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy 

 
Version 1 Page 30of 30 March 2010 

National Procurement Strategy for Local Government – seeks to support local 
government in improving the quality, delivery and cost effectiveness of local service 
through better procurement. 
 
OGC –  The Office of Government Commerce. 
 
OGC Buying Solutions – The Office of Government Commerce Buying Solutions 
offer a large number of contracts which local authorities can use or make call offs 
from as and when required.  It seeks to offer these solutions via an e-marketplace 
which can make the contract easy to navigate. 
 
PEN -Procurement East network 
 
PQQ – Pre qualification questionnaire.  A method of assessing the suitability of firms 
who want to be invited to tender. 
 
Purchasing Cards (P Cards) – a payment system best suited to low value, high-
volume purchases similar to credit cards. 
 
Procurement Consortia – A group of agencies who join together to share both 
procurement expertise and resources in order to achieve economies of scale and 
also reduce overall costs of procurement. 
 
RIEPS – Regional Improvement and Efficiency partnership.  The former Regional 
Centres of Excellence are incorporated into these/.  They were Created in April 2008 
with a three year funding package of £185m from Communities and Local 
Government,  the nine Regional Improvement and Efficiency Partnerships (RIEPs) 
are a key tool to support authorities to drive service improvement and efficiency. 
RIEPs are led by members and are partnerships of councils and other key providers 
and are focused on supporting authorities to deliver on the priorities which are 
important to local communities. 
 
SMEs – Small and Medium sized enterprises. 
 
Third Sector – Organisation switch are voluntary in nature who provide services 
which Councils often need to tender for.  A good example of a third sector 
organisation would be “Age Concern”. 
 
VCS – Voluntary and Community Centre 

53



Business Improvement Programme 

Progress Update: 2 

Licensing and Business Support

Document: Licensing and Business Support: 
Business Improvement Programme Update 
Issue Date: 2

nd
 March 2010 

Version: 1.0 Final  
Version Number: 1.0 Final 
Author: Adam Colby 

Agenda Item 10

54



1 Background 

1.1. Work Stream Summary

The table below details the seven streams of work supporting the transformation of the 
Licensing and Business Support service. 

Front Office 
Optimisation 

The front office optimisation stream will enable customers to access the 
Licensing service through the internet, the contact centre and the five 
customer service centres through effective redesign of processes and 
using the Council’s CRM, LAGAN. This stream will be fundamental in 
taking on processes to release capacity in the Licensing team 

Back Office 
Process
Improvements 

The back office stream will look at the remaining processes in the back 
office and how these can be developed alongside new ICT platforms. This 
stream seeks to enhance how the team undertake the processing of 
licence applications, the processes surrounding enforcement and 
identifying areas where services in the Council can work closer to provide 
a joined up service. 

ICT Platforms 
and Enablers 

The Licensing service currently lacks a suitable ICT system platform to 
enable the team to deliver its mandatory activities. This stream 
concentrates on initiating new ICT platforms but also taking this further 
with the delivery of a mobile working solution, e-consultation and self 
service. 

Business 
Support Team 
Re-alignment 

The Business Support Team works strategically across the Environmental 
Health team providing administrative support. This stream will look at how 
this resource can be best used to serve the Council and its residents by 
providing value outcomes. There will be changes in roles and 
responsibilities which will be key to enabling the new Licensing service 
provision and enabling Environmental Health to work pro-actively. 

Partnership 
Working and 
Income
Generation 

The Licensing team works with a number of external bodies. Some of 
these are consultees under the Licensing act; others are around 
enforcement and proactive activities. This stream looks to enhance this 
partnership further but also investigate possibilities of working with shared 
services with other local authorities and taking forward opportunities to 
generate further income to enable the service to operate with a balanced 
budget. 

Financial
Management 

The financial management stream will support the programme and the 
streams throughout the implementation and review period. This stream 
will be actively involved in understanding current budgets, the realignment 
of budgets, working towards Licensing operating with a balanced budget 
and the realisations of cashable savings. 

Organisation 
Development 

This stream will support the recommendations and decisions made 
through policies and processes surrounding creation and deletion of posts 
and mobile working. 

1.2. Work Stream Progress

The informaton given below provided a high level overview of the progress of the Business 
Improvement Programme and the seven work streams as of March 3

rd
 2010. 

Back Office Redesign

 Taxi and hackney

 Private Hire and Hackney carriage have been redesigned and costed. The majority of 
the process has been implemented in the back and front office. Additional 

55



opportunities identified which need further time and effort have been added to the 
service team plan and timescales are in the process of being agreed between 
Licensing and Performance.

 The processes have been designed to enable the back office to receive a higher 
percentage of clean applications meaning a quicker turnaround on process time for 
customer and less applications retained within the team in a pending state.

 New plates and stickers for vehicles have been sourced to enable production 
inhouse. This will mean there will no be duplication in visits to the office from 
customer, no temporary plates and branded plates and side stickers displaying 
vehicle details and a unique identification barcode which will be used for mobile 
enforcement. This has reduced costs on both procurement and process time.

 Charity and Small Lottery processes commence redesign w/c 1
st
 March again for an 

end to end review. Already it has been identified the process can be significantly 
simplified. This process must be complete and live for 1

st
 April to coincide with the 

new staff structure.

 Data cleansing of paper files is underway. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire for 
vehicles, operators and drivers has been completed. These are now ready for data 
migration into the new ICT system. 

 Licensing have  now been trained on internet maintenance to continue development of 
new pages after their initial creation by the BI team in line with the new customer 
CRM processes.

Issue

 The licensing team is working at 50% capactiy due to maternity leave. The staff 
structure will address this issue however in the mean time the team are daily 
prioritising their activites to deliver the business and support the transformation 
programme. 

Front Office Optimisation

 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire is now live in the customer contact centre with a 
new line for licensing created, 656876.  

 In line with the customer contact centre, new web pages have been written and 
launched which mirror the contact centre processes. This ensures consistency in 
information and means that should one channel be updated, the other channel will 
automatically reflect this.  

 The processes have been configured in the CRM and capture information in a way that 
will allow the licensing team to gather information about their customers. For example 
they would be able to see who had requested application forms and to predict 
when these may be received. 

 New forms and documents (for taxi only) have been completed after eight attempts. 
These are now in line with corporate guidelines to support the customer in their 
application and ensure the relevant information is taken to enable licensing to make a 
decision about the grant. These are being lauched individually as and when 
completed by Graphic Design. 

56



 The next process to migrate to the customer contact centre will be the Charities and 
Small Lotteries process as part of the overall process redesign. These processes 
currently sit with Environmental Health's Business Support Team and Licensing. 

Business Support Team

The Business Support Team task review is complete and identified fifty nine individual tasks 
supporing Environmental Health in a number of ways. The way forward has been identifed 
jointly between Anita Brennan and Adam Colby with the aim to deliver for the 1

st
 April 2010. 

 As a result of the review, the Business Support Team will no longer exisit and the 
creation of two new posts will be in place with the remainder migrated to the Contact 
Centre to support the addional processes migrated from Licensing.

 Consultation period finished on 15
th
 February with the outcomes responded to. As of 

1
st
 April 2010, this team will no longer exist.

 Migration plans, training and upskilling have been identified and put in place for those 
officers that will absorb the remaining tasks from the disbanded team.

Issue

 The culture of Environmental Health is very different to some of the other services 
reviewed. This has meant a significant amount of effort required to support 
individuals through this process.  

Orgnisational Development

The HR team have provided adivce with regard to recommendations being put forward. 
The review included a redesign and realignment of the staff structure to accommodate 
the new ways of working. 

 Consultation finished with the relevant members of staff in Licensing and Business 
Support on 12th February 2010

 The managers and BI Team had one week to finalise decision based on the outcome.

 22
nd

 February all staff were advised the strucutre would be going ahead as per the 
recommendation to BISC, CMT and General Purposes Committee, and put at risk.

 A job event was held for the at risk employees offering them opportunities to talk 
about the new roles as a result of the structural changes on 24

th
 February

 Job adverts for new roles were advertised from 23
rd

 February until 8
th
 March.

 Selection for interview commences 8
th
 March with interviews and work assesments 

(where applicable) commence 15
th
 March. Appointment/notice will be made w/c 21

st

March.

 Subject to appointment the structure will commence 1
st
 April 2010. 

Issue

 If any staff are unsuccessful then the redundacy process will commence. If this is the 
case then roles will need to be adveritsed externally. This could mean the strucutre 
could go live later than planned due to avoiding running parallel salaries. 

57



ICT: Platforms and Enablers

 The new operating system for Licensing, Lalpac Classic has been successfully 
installed and is successfully working in the live environment for the purpose of data 
migration.

 Data migration has commenced on the data that has been cleansed for Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire. Personal Licences are also cleansed and ready to follow. 
Data cleansing has commenced on Premises Licences.

 New letters and licence templates are still in the design stage. These will incorporate 
the unique barcode for the purpose of fraud prevention and the mobile reader 
solution.

 The ICT project manager will commence work with Lalpac on the next stage, 
Enterprise, which is the module that enables the e-consultation, self service and 
mobile working.

Issue

 The Lalpac Enterprise will not work until such a time all data has been cleansed and 
migrated and the new working processes are in place.

Partnership Working and Income Generation

 Income generation opportunities have been identified. One will be through 
increased/realigned fees. The new processes implemented will enable accurate 
charging helping the licensing team move towards a balanced budget. 

 Additonal opportunites have been identified through the sale of training and exams in 
collaboration with the BIIAB. Breckland Council is now accredited to run such courses. 
In April, Stephanie Butcher and Adam Colby will be meeting another authority who 
already exploits this income channel to understand how to do this. 

 Although this is a key stream, it is one of the latter streams therefore significant effort 
is diverted into the priority areas until such a time as the capacity is released. 

 The 15
th
 March will see the first workshop with the Police and Breckland’s Licensing 

Team for idenfying areas for improvement for partnership working initiatives. 

Finance

Finance have provided support throughout the programme including: 

 Sourcing of funds for the ICT solution 

 Costs and budget information for the team enabling contributing to the costed 
process models 

 Aids in putting together a model for calculating fees correctly based on service costs 
and oncost to work towards balanced budget 

 Understanding financial system and processes for the Environmental Health team. 

 Reallocation of salary for alignment of new salaries 

Finance will have further involvement when the income generation stream fully commences. 

58



Summary

In summary the programme is running to timescale and within budget. The next major 
milestone for the programme is the appointment of the new posts and implementation of the 
structure. This date should be finalised based on the appointment outcomes w/c 21

st
 March. 

Appendix

The diagram below gives a high level overview of the progress to date for the Licensing and 
Business Support: Business Improvement Programme. The majority of the activites are an 
independent project linked to the overall programmes aims and objectives. 

The pink indicates areas that are complete, green in progress and white are yet to start. 

59



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Asset Management System 
Estateman 

 
End of Project Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Document: End of Project Report 
Issue Date: 08/01/10 
Version: Final 
Version Number: 1.0 
Author: Kevin Rump 

 

Agenda Item 11b

60



End of Project Report  Estateman 
  

-1- 
 

Purpose 

The information in the Mandate is used to trigger Starting up a project (SU)”. It 
should contain sufficient information to identify at least the prospective 
Executive of the Project Board and indicate the subject matter of the project. It 
will be used to create the Project Brief.  

Derivation 

A Project Mandate may come from anywhere, but it should come from a level 
of management that can authorise the cost and resource usage. It is input to 
Starting Up a Project (SU). 

Quality Criteria 

• The level of authority is commensurate with the anticipated size, risk 
and cost of the project 

 

Contents 

 

Contents ..........................................................................................................1 
1 Project Objective.......................................................................................2 
2 Review of Benefits Achieved to date (if any) ............................................2 
3 Performance Against Tolerances..............................................................3 
4 Effect on Project Plan & Business Case ...................................................3 
5 Final Statistics on Project Issues/Risks ....................................................3 
6 Post implementation Review Plan/Date (if any) ........................................4 
 
 

61



End of Project Report  Estateman 
  

-2- 
 

1 Project Objective 

Project Sponsor: Ray Johnson 
Project Manager: Kevin Rump 
 

« To procure an Asset Management System by the end of December 2008 ü 

« To implement the chosen Asset Management System by March 2009 û  
§ Delivered 1 month late 
§ System implemented and available but incomplete upload of 

data/hard copies and limited skill sharing amongst team. 

2 Review of Benefits Achieved to date (if any) 

 Benefits Status/Date 

Multiple Images available Online - has a saving of £253 per year (from 
yr 2). These 2 days to be used on generating more income. 

Not realised 

Reduction in paper generation – has a saving of admin time £380 per 
year + £20 Paper/inks per year. 

Not realised 

Accessibility of Evidence – has saving of admin time £1,088 per year 
from year 2 

Not realised 

Survey Storage and accessibility - Cost avoidance of £100 per month 
from year 2 

Not realised 

Financial reputation - Cost avoidance of 12k per year from yr2 Not realised 

Multi-skilled personnel - It is felt that by multi-skilling that these days 
can be gained back into the service. Cost avoidance of £1,360 per year 

Not realised 

Rent/lease renewals. Has a saving of £3,000 admin time per year + 
cost avoidance of lost income of £60,000 per year from year 2 

Not realised 

Avoidance of information loss - service easy to recover in the event of 
a disaster.  

Not realised 

Management of “voids” Not realised 

Trading Opportunities Not realised 

Mobile Working opportunities Not realised 

Historic data transfer – the ability to upload historic information Not realised 

Management via online Fee Charge Calculator Not realised 

An increase in staff morale due to better and more efficient processes Not realised 

Opportunities open up as a result of trading Not realised 

The enabling of Mobile Working opportunities Not realised 

An increase in staff morale due to better and more efficient processes Not realised 

62



End of Project Report  Estateman 
  

-3- 
 

3 Performance Against Tolerances 

 Tolerance Level Agreed at outset Status Update 

Time 

To procure an Asset Management System by the end of Dec 2008.  

Implement the chosen Asset Management System by March 2009. 

Achieved 
 
Late 1 month 

Cost Must not exceed costs £30k capital costs. Achieved 

Quality Specification must be delivered in full. P1 Achieved  

Scope To procure system, implement, and obtain customer acceptance. Partly Achieved 

Benefits No tolerance set.  N/A 

Risk Any high likelihood/high impact risk to be escalated.  Achieved 

4 Effect on Project Plan & Business Case 

ID Products Status Planned Finish Actual Finish 

1 Agree Contract Completed Dec 08 Jan 09 

2 Prepare infrastructure Completed Dec 08 Jan 09 

3 Site Survey Completed Jan 09 Mid Jan 09 

4 Install Test System Completed Jan 09 Late Jan 09 

5 Prep data Completed Dec 08 Jan 09 

6 Data Migration Partly completed Jan 09 Ongoing 

7 Breckland Testing Completed Feb 09 Mar 09 

8 Sign-off Completed Feb 09 Apr 09 

9 Training  Completed Feb 09 March 09 

10 Install Live System Completed Feb 09 March 09 

11 Parallel Running Partly Completed Feb 09 Ongoing 

5 Final Statistics on Project Issues/Risks 

Issues 
 
« Total issues Raised = 42 (5 top, 14 high, 20 medium, 3 low) 
« Outstanding Issues: 

§ Code book work that Joan carried out has not been tested by the team - 
issue also highlights resource concerns or ability to remove from day-to-day 
line duties 

§ It is still unclear for the key resource Paul Durrant as to what is the definitive 
list for a "complete record" and this causes problems in that Paul does not 
have a direction to work towards 

§ Due to the delays in entering information by the team there are concerns that 
re-training would be required. 

§ Paul is the key resource and is struggling with the conflict of line v project 
duties. There is a reliance upon 1 resource which makes the project difficult 
to progress quickly 

§ Reluctance for the team to start using the system early 
§ Loss of drive to embrace the system through team morale, change in 

sponsorship and other priorities. 
 
« Off-specification issues: 

63



End of Project Report  Estateman 
  

-4- 
 

§ Financial module was not part of the offer but the team think it is 
important in order to deliver the trading platform. 

§ Concerns that service charges are not accounted for in the system 
 

Risks 

« Total risks raised at project outset = 12  

Sort by Risk %/Likelihood 
Initial 

assessment 

ID Risk % Impact 

Update following 
project end 

6 
The final system is not fit for 
purpose. 

High Medium 

Increased Risk 
Change in trading vision 
Change in sponsorship 

11 
The system(s) can not integrate 
/ interface with the financial 
and GIS systems as required.    

High Medium 

Reduced Risk 
Commitment from 
supplier obtained 

2 
Inadequate supplier 
management 

Medium Medium No Difference 

12 

Given the uncertainties 
regarding the local government 
review any system purchased 
could be redundant in 18 
months time. 

Medium Medium No Difference 

5 
Project roles and 
responsibilities not clearly 
identified. 

Medium Medium No Difference 

1 
Failure of supplier to meet 
deadlines 

Medium Medium 
Avoided 
N/a 

7 
Key team members are 
unavailable or leave the 
organisation. 

Medium Medium 

Increased Risk 
Change in trading vision 
Change in sponsorship 

8 
Management incompetence - 
lack of drive for the project. 

High Low No Difference 

9 Collapse of supplier High Low No Difference 

10 
Budget affected - more funds 
required to complete the 
project. 

High Low 
Avoided 
N/a 

4 
Poor Staff take up of new 
system 

High Low 

Increased Risk 
Loss of enthusiasm 
Other priorities 

3 
Scope creep - additional 
workload 

Medium Low 

Increased Risk 
Change in sponsorship 
has affected the needs 
of the project 

6 Post implementation Review Plan/Date (if any) 

 
To be confirmed 

64



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

GIS Layer for Contaminated Land  
 

End of Project Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Document: End of Project Report 
Issue Date: 12/01/10 
Version: Final 
Version Number: 1.0 
Author: Andrew Grimley 

 

Agenda Item 11c

65



End of Project Report   
  

-1- 
 

Purpose 

The information in the Mandate is used to trigger Starting up a project (SU)”. It 
should contain sufficient information to identify at least the prospective 
Executive of the Project Board and indicate the subject matter of the project. It 
will be used to create the Project Brief.  

Derivation 

A Project Mandate may come from anywhere, but it should come from a level 
of management that can authorise the cost and resource usage. It is input to 
Starting Up a Project (SU). 

Quality Criteria 

• The level of authority is commensurate with the anticipated size, risk 
and cost of the project 

 

Contents 

 

Contents ..........................................................................................................1 
1 Project Objective.......................................................................................2 
2 Review of Benefits Achieved to date (if any) ............................................2 
3 Performance Against Tolerances..............................................................3 
4 Effect on Project Plan & Business Case ...................................................3 
5 Final Statistics on Project Issues/Risks ....................................................4 
6 Post implementation Review Plan/Date (if any) ........................................4 
 
 

66



End of Project Report   
  

-2- 
 

1 Project Objective 

Project Sponsor: Andrew Grimley 
Project Manager: Kay Wilcox 
 

« To deliver a contaminated land Risk Prioritisation layer by an external Company 
by April 2009  

 
Status: Completed 

2 Review of Benefits Achieved to date (if any) 

Benefits Delivered Justification 

Reduction in time to complete Risk 
Prioritisation by approx 3 years. 
Significant progress with statutory 
function. 

Yes There is now a completed ranking of sites 
in accordance with the potential risk – 
this has removed the need to visit sites 
individually in order to score them which 
would have taken 3 years.  We are now 
able to focus on progressing the Part 2A 
Inspection Strategy (see below) 

The list which will be a layer on the 
council GIS system will enable officers 
from the council to target those sites 
which potentially pose the highest 
significant risks for them to be cleaned 
up either under the planning legislation 
or contaminated land legislation 
(Environmental Protection Act 1990 
part 2).  

Yes  

A layer now exists on GIS which identifies 
the relative risks.  Since creation of the 
GIS layer the highest risk sites are being 
targeted for detailed assessment and 
ensuring remediation is carried out by 
relevant party.  The assessment work is 
subject to availability of funding. 

The data will be used by officers within 
the team to respond to planning 
applications more effectively as the 
data will be quantified in terms of the 
risks posed to any future users of the 
land and be accessible almost instantly 
via the GIS software. The data is not 
intended to be released directly to the 
public or other officers however 
decisions based on it will influence how 
we work with them and respond to 
enquiries in a more effective manner. 

Not 
directly 

While the layer is more relevant to Part 
2A work (as it scores risk according to 
current rather than future use), 
completion of the layer has effectively 
freed up some time to respond to 
planning consultations.  A significant 
proportion of sites will be remediated 
through planning rather than Part 2A; 
therefore response to planning 
consultations has a knock on effect to 
Part 2A work. 
 
  

The Contaminated Land Layer will free 
up two officers concentrating on this 
task two days per week. Based on an 
officer at a mid point of grade 8 this 
equates to an estimated revenue saving 
of around £22,300 per year. This time / 
cost saving would be devoted to higher 
priority work within the team 

Yes During these two days the Contaminated 
Land Officers are now able to actually 
progress the Part 2A detailed assessments 
rather than spending time just 
completing the risk prioritisation list.  In 
detail they are able to: 
 

• To produce in-house Phase 1 - 
desk studies for high risk sites 
rather than outsourcing them 
(hence saving costs) 

• To apply for funding for Defra 
funding for Phase 2 - detailed 

67



End of Project Report   
  

-3- 
 

assessments of high risk sites 
identified from this layer 

 

• To evaluate and instigate the 
Phase 2, detailed assessments, 
which follow the initial desk 
studies 

• To project manage detailed 
assessments which involve a 
considerable amount of 
communications with stakeholders 
(including the general public) to 
ensure the political/social issues 
are dealt with positively.   

 

• To begin to update the Inspection 
Strategy which will meet the 
auditor’s requirements 

 

• It has also freed up the Private 
Water Supply officer to set up a 
system to address the council’s 
statutory duty under then new 

PWS regulations.   

3 Performance Against Tolerances 

 Tolerance Level Agreed at outset Status Update 

Time To deliver the land layer by April 2009 Completed within 
timescale 

Cost To not exceed the costs £3000 + vat Within budget 

Quality Not set N/A 

Scope 

Risk Prioritisation Land layer only (not server 

application) 
Correct 

Benefits Not set N/A 

Risk Not set N/A 

4 Effect on Project Plan & Business Case 

ID Products Status Finish 

1 
Business Improvement 
Board application 

Completed Feb / March 2009 

2 
Demonstration of 
system 

Completed 
March 2009 

3 Purchase of layer Completed March 2009 

4 GIS layer installed Completed April 2009 

5 GIS layer tested Completed April 2009 
6 GIS layer implemented Completed April 2009 

7 Sign off / Acceptance Completed June 2009 

68



End of Project Report   
  

-4- 
 

5 Final Statistics on Project Issues/Risks 

Issues 
 

Total issues Raised = No specific issues raised apart from the project took slightly longer to 
complete than expected. It should be noted that the layer is mainly only relevant to Part 
2A work, because it scores the relative risks to current use not the future use under 
proposed development under planning. 

 
 
« Outstanding Issues: 

 
§ None 

 
 

Risks 

Total risks identified at project outset = Prior to the implementation the council was not in 
compliance to compile a site risk as part of its statutory duties under contaminated land 
legislation. There were no direct monitoring improvements however by freeing up time within 
the team it was envisaged that the team would be able to respond to planning application in 
a timelier manner helping the planners with their NI157 indicator. 

 
« Outstanding Risks = None 

 
 

6 Post implementation Review Plan/Date (if any) 

 
To be confirmed 

69



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Project ‘PCI Compliance’ 
 

End of Project Review 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Document: PCI project Review  
Issue Date: 8

th
 February 2010 

Version: 1.0 

Agenda Item 11e

70



Change Control 

 

Quality Assurance 

Document: PCI End of Project Review 

Version: 1.0  (of the 4th January 2010) 

Status: Draft  

 Name Date 

Document Owner: Simon Stubbs 08/02/2010 

Prepared by: Simon Stubbs 08/02/2010 

Verified by: Kevin Rump  

Approved by: Kevin Rump  

Final Authorisation:   

 

Circulation and Accreditation List 

 

Ver. Status Date Name Organisation/Position 

0.1 Initial Draft  04/01/2010 Simon Stubbs ICT Project Manager 

     

     

     

     

     

 

Changes to Log 

 

Ver. Status Changed by Date Events 

0.1 Initial Draft  Simon 
Stubbs 

04/01/2010 Initial creation & draft 

0.2 Updated 
Draft 

Simon 
Stubbs 

10/01/2010 Updated Draft 

0.3 Updated 
Draft 

Simon 
Stubbs 

21/01/2010 Updated Draft 

1.0 Final 
Release 

Simon 
Stubbs 

08/02/2010 Final Release 

     

     

71



Purpose 

To review the outcome of the project in relation to the project initiation 

document.  The review takes into account any costs, schedules and 

tolerances. 

The primary use of this document is to form the basis of any future work in 

terms of Payment Card Industry (PCI) compliance for Breckland Council. 

 

Composition 

The review takes into account the current situation in terms of how Breckland 

Council compares with the PCI Data Security Standard (DSS) version 1.2.1. 

The report aims to cover the cores areas; 

 

• Achievements of the PCI projects objectives. 

• Review of benefits to date (if any). 

• Performance against the planned target date, cost and tolerances. 

• How could compliance be achieved /post project review plan. 

72



Contents 

 

Change Control................................................................................................2 
Purpose ...........................................................................................................3 
Composition.....................................................................................................3 
Contents ..........................................................................................................4 
1 Executive Summary..................................................................................6 
1.1. Summary ...........................................................................................6 

2 Background...............................................................................................6 
2.1. Introduction........................................................................................6 

3 Current environment .................................................................................7 
3.1. Existing payment environment...........................................................7 
3.2. Non-Breckland payments ..................................................................7 

4 PCI DSS Assessment Procedure .............................................................8 
4.1. PCI DSS Assessment Process..........................................................8 
4.3 PCI DSS Results Matirx.....................................................................9 
4.1.1. Build and maintain a secure network..........................................9 
4.1.2. Protect cardholder data ..............................................................9 
4.1.3. Maintain a vulnerability management program.........................10 
4.1.4. Implement strong access control measures .............................10 
4.1.5. Regularly monitor and test networks ........................................11 
4.1.6. Maintain an information security policy.....................................11 

4.2. PCI DSS High Level Results ...........................................................12 
5 Summary ................................................................................................12 
5.1. Summary .........................................................................................12 
5.1.1 Onsite APACS..........................................................................12 
5.1.2 Network segregation.................................................................12 
5.1.4 Paper based systems...............................................................13 

6 Recommendation....................................................................................13 
6.1  Recommendations ..............................................................................13 
6.1.1 Scope of project........................................................................13 
6.1.2 APACS .....................................................................................14 
6.1.3 Network infrastructure ..............................................................14 
6.1.4 Documentation .........................................................................14 
6.1.5 Ownership ................................................................................15 
6.1.6 External Assistance ..................................................................15 

7 Project statistics......................................................................................16 
7.2 Project Tolerances...........................................................................16 
7.2.1 Time .........................................................................................16 
7.2.2 Cost ..........................................................................................16 
7.2.3 Scope .......................................................................................16 
7.2.4 Quality ......................................................................................17 
7.2.5 Risks.........................................................................................17 
7.2.6 Benefits ....................................................................................17 

Appendix 1 .................................................................................................20 
Appendix 2 .................................................................................................21 
Appendix 3 .................................................................................................22 
Appendix 4 .................................................................................................23 

73



Appendix 5 .................................................................................................24 
 
 
 
 

74



1 Executive Summary 

1.1. Summary 

 

The PCI Compliance project was tasked with assessing the current 

Breckland Council status in relation to the PCI DSS standard 1.2.1 

(dated July 2009).  The PCI standard consists of twelve main 

requirement sections with these twelve sections further grouped into 

six main categories.  Compliance on all elements is required to achieve 

full PCI DSS accreditation.  Currently Breckland Council would achieve 

around 40% compliance against the current standard if formally 

assessed.  This compliance figure is relatively low due in main to 

having an on site, non managed APCS system, lack of network 

segregation (restricting ability to control / segregate internal data 

traffic), lack of formal documented procedures and policies together 

with an open approach to how card payments are accepted within 

Breckland Council.  Based on the findings Breckland Council would 

need to make a number of significant changes to internal infrastructure, 

technology and policy to achieve PCI compliance. 

 

2 Background 

2.1. Introduction 

Breckland Council currently accepts debit card payments from 

members of the public to pay for services which are provided by the 

Council.  At the present time no credit card payments are accepted as 

Breckland Council does not have compliance with the PCI DSS.  The 

PCI DSS was developed to raise awareness and improve security 

across the board in the way payment card details are stored and 

processed.  While the standard is not enforceable under law there is a 

contractual obligation enforced by substantial fines and the risk of 

adverse publicity should credit card details be made public as a result 

of a failure by Breckland Council.  Currently Breckland Council stores / 

75



processes card information on site so the PCI DSS needs to be 

addressed if credit card payments are to be accepted in the future.  In 

order to achieve compliance Breckland Council would need to assess 

the current Breckland Council environment against the latest PCI DSS 

standard and achieve 100% compliance before accepting credit card 

payments. 

 

 

3 Current environment 

3.1. Existing payment environment 

Breckland Council currently accept debit card payments in five main 

streams, Touchtone (automated phone payment system), Web / 

Internet, in person Chip & Pin, through the Call Centre and Backoffice 

(see appendix 1).  The Touchtone and Web / Internet payments are 

handled by a fully managed APACS system managed by Capita.  The 

Chip & Pin system whilst utilising the managed APACS system does 

also interface to the AIM database on site at Breckland Council’s 

Elizabeth House location.  The Call Centre and Backoffice both utilise 

an onsite APACS system (supplied, but not fully managed by, Capita).  

Any payments made via the Touchtone or Internet is handled by Capita 

and does not “touch” the Breckland Council environment when 

payment is made.  The contact centre and onsite Backoffice both utilise 

the PAYe.net system which interfaces to an onsite APACS and the AIM 

database.  

3.2. Non-Breckland payments 

Companies who are contracted by Breckland Council to provide 

services do accept credit card payments (what about debit cards?).  As 

part of the PCI compliance assessment these companies should also 

be assessed to ensure PCI compliant.  Serco provide both bulk waste 

76



and green bin services direct to the public and as such accept credit 

card payment for these services.  The monies received from the public 

for these services are transferred from Serco to Breckland Council.  

Serco have confirmed that they are currently compliant with the PCI 

DSS standard. (Follow up action will be to obtain evidence – maybe 

from PCI) 

4 PCI DSS Assessment Procedure 

4.1. PCI DSS Assessment Process 

The PCI DSS standard, version 1.2.1, was used to perform the 

assessment of the existing Breckland Council environment.  The PCI 

DSS was developed to encourage and enhance cardholder data 

security and facilitate the broad adoption of consistent data security 

measures globally. The PCI Data Security Standard Requirements and 

Security Assessment Procedures, uses as its foundation the 12 PCI 

DSS requirements (see appendix 2), and combines them with 

corresponding testing procedures into a security assessment toolkit. 

 

4.2 Assessment toolkit 

The PCI DSS assessment tool kit has been utilised for the Breckland 

Council PCI assessment.  The assessment toolkit comprises of a 

checklist with twelve requirements.  Each requirement comprising of 

individual elements with testing procedures, confirmation if in 

compliance or not along with a comment (if applicable).  Each of the 

twelve requirements of the PCI DSS has varying numbers of elements, 

ranging from three to thirty nine and in total there are two hundred and 

seven individual elements which require satisfying to achieve 

accreditation to the PCI DSS standard.  In order to assess the current 

status of Breckland Council against the PCI DSS each individual 

element from each of the twelve requirements was assessed against 

the testing procedure.  For each individual element the requirement is 

either “In Place” or “Not in Place” which is signified by a “Y” or “N”.  

Further more for each element additional information is provided in the 

77



“Comments” section.  Due to this report being a preliminary 

investigation / assessment there are instances where due either to the 

ambiguity of the question or through lack of knowledge the answer is 

not clear, in such instances the compliance is set to “Not in Place”.  For 

each of the twelve sections a percentage of compliance is generated 

and as such an overall compliance percentage figure is created.  In this 

way a metric of overall compliance is possible. 

4.3 PCI DSS Results Matirx 

Appendix 3 shows the 12 PCI DSS requirements and their 

corresponding individual elements.  Each requirement is focussed on a 

particular area of security. 

 

4.1.1. Build and maintain a secure network 

Requirements one and two primarily focus on firewalls, 

boundary security and secure system configuration.  The current 

security measures in place are lacking when compared to the 

requirements of the standard for this requirement.  There is a 

need to achieve additional work on documentation to formalise 

the procedures and policies which are currently verbally in 

place.  Additionally a reduction in scope of infrastructure under 

review would also significantly assist achieving compliance in 

this area.  To achieve this reduction in scope the officers 

currently able to accept and process card payments would need 

to be considered carefully along with how the network 

infrastructure / topology is designed. 

 

4.1.2. Protect cardholder data 

Requirements three and four deal with protecting stored 

cardholder data and encryption of transmitted data across open 

public networks.  Requirement three is mainly dealing with how 

card holder data is stored.  As with requirements one and two 

the need to provide documented evidence is currently lacking 

which greatly weakens the ability to achieve compliance.  The 

78



majority of requirement four deals with cryptographic data 

transmission, currently it is unclear if the systems in place meet 

this requirement (further discussion with Capita would need to 

address this issue). 

 

4.1.3. Maintain a vulnerability management program 

Requirement five deals purely with the implementation, 

configuration and use of antivirus products.  Requirement five is 

fully meet and as such requires no additional attention.  

Requirement six is primarily concentrating on how to develop 

and maintain secure systems and applications.  Many of 

elements are specifically aimed at ensuring that the card 

payment systems in use are developed in line with best practice 

guidelines (PA DSS and Open Web Application Security Project 

OWASP), this being the case the majority of the elements will 

require consultation with Capita due to the bulk of this 

requirement relating to payment websites). 

 

4.1.4. Implement strong access control measures 

Requirement seven deals with restricting access to cardholder 

data and when access is granted it is on a least permissions 

basis first.  The majority of requirement seven requires strong 

documented evidence that the controls and procedures are in 

place and enforced (as with other requirements under review 

this area needs addressing within Breckland Council to achieve 

compliance as documented procedures and policies are 

currently weak).  Requirement eights intention is to ensure 

assess controls are in place and every users access can be 

traced.  The requirement is only partial achieved by the current 

Breckland environment and additional work is necessary to 

achieve full compliance in this respect, primarily in the way 

access is granted initially, how user accounts are disabled and 

access rights granted.  Requirement nine is tasked with 

79



assessing how physical security is handled.  The results from 

the assessment shows that Breckland Council meets 

approximately two thirds of the elements of the requirement with 

further work required in the security and control of both 

electronic and paper media used to store card holder data. 

 

4.1.5. Regularly monitor and test networks 

Requirement ten is focussed with monitoring access to networks 

and resources.  Logging does take place within Breckland 

Council on the systems in question but the level and depth of 

logging is not clear in relation to the requirement.  The indication 

is that additional and more detailed logging will be necessary to 

fully meet the compliance required.  Additionally more work on 

documenting procedures is required.  Requirement eleven deals 

with testing of security systems and the processes which are in 

place.  Currently additional technological solutions would be 

required to achieve compliance in this requirement; this would 

include internal and external quarterly scanning and improved 

file integrity checking tools.    

 

4.1.6. Maintain an information security policy 

Requirement twelve is concerned with how internal security 

policies address information security for employee’s and 

external parties (contractors).  This requirement is heavily 

dependant on proof of documentation which accounts for the 

poor score achieved by Breckland Council against this 

requirement.  Considerable work on documentation and user 

education would be required to achieve compliance against this 

requirement. 

 

 

 

80



4.2. PCI DSS High Level Results 

Appendix 4 shows the summary table from the PCI DSS results matrix.  

Only requirement five (use and regularly update anti-virus software) is 

currently fully compliant with the PCI DSS 1.2.1.  Requirements four, 

eight and nine are partially compliant with the remaining requirements 

needing considerable work to reach the full compliance stage.  

Appendix 5 uses a radar chart to indicate areas of strength and 

weakness in the current assessment against each requirement. 

 

5 Summary 

5.1. Summary 

The findings of the initial PCI DSS assessment are that the current 

Breckland Council environment is approximately 40% compliant 

against the PCI DSS version 1.2.1.  There would appear to be a 

number of reasons for the low compliance score; 

 

 5.1.1 Onsite APACS 

Utilisation of both a fully managed and onsite APACS system 

(this situation is apparently quite unusual).  The onsite APACS is 

not fully managed by Capita (Steria carry out the day to day 

administration and updates).  This onsite APACS would appear 

not to be PCI compliant. (Certainly agree) 

 

5.1.2 Network segregation 

Lack of physical network segregation on the Breckland Council 

network.  The inability to restrict internal traffic on the data 

network from those areas within Breckland Council which utilise 

card payment systems will increase the scope of the network 

included in the PCI compliance.  Consideration must be given to 

reducing the need to allow payment card details from flowing 

across the entire Breckland. 

 

81



5.1.3 Documentation 

Major lack of documented policies and standard operating 

procedures (SOP) in relation to the way card holder data is 

processed within Breckland Council.  Much of the PCI DSS 

requires documented proof of the procedures and policies which 

are in place.  Failure to provide documented evidence, even if 

the requirement is in force prevents compliance being achieved. 

 

5.1.4 Paper based systems 

Ability of Backoffice service areas to receive and process paper 

based card details.  The lack of control in relation to paper 

based card information passing through the Breckland Council 

offices causes a number of issues in achieving compliance due 

mainly to the lack of control of this media. 

 

 

   

 

 

6 Recommendation 

 

6.1  Recommendations 

The following recommendations are provided as the basis for any 

project looking at achieving PCI DSS compliance. 

 

 

6.1.1 Scope of project 

The main factor to consider in a future PCI compliance 

project would be to identify the scope of the works 

required.  Restricting the scope of the PCI DSS review 

would have significant benefits in terms of achieving 

compliance. Review how card holder data is processed 

82



within Breckland Council currently, in particular the areas 

which can process card payment details.  Any reduction 

in the amount of people and services involved in the card 

payment process would have the advantage of reducing 

scope for a future compliance project. 

 

6.1.2 APACS 

Discussions with Capita would need to take place over 

how best to remove the onsite APACS and utilise a fully 

managed APACS or how to achieve PCI compliance with 

the onsite APACS (if possible). 

 

6.1.3 Network infrastructure 

Given the flat structure of the Breckland Council network 

any future PCI compliance project will need to consider 

methods of network segregation to allow far more control 

of how internal card data is passed around the Breckland 

data network.  The ability to restrict card data within the 

Breckland data network and in particular provide 

evidence as to how the payment card data is managed is 

important to allow compliance to be achieved.   

. 

 

6.1.4 Documentation 

Instigate a program to create standard operating 

procedures and fully document how the payment card 

environment operates within Breckland Council.  Any 

future compliance project will need this information in 

place to successfully achieve compliance as a great deal 

of the standard requires documented evidence to the 

support the application. 

 

83



6.1.5 Ownership 

Ensure there is clear ownership of the payment card 

environment within Breckland Council.  Currently there 

does not seem to be an overall authority within Breckland 

Council responsible for the card payment system. 

 

6.1.6 External Assistance 

 
It is clear from the assessment carried out that the PCI 

DSS standard is open to interpretation in certain areas 

and some elements are slightly ambiguous in nature.  

The assistance of a PCI consultant to assist Breckland 

Council in the early stages of any formal PCI compliance 

project would certainly be recommended.  Likewise 

should a formal decision be made to achieve PCI 

compliance engaging with Capita at an early stage would 

be a necessity. 

84



7 Project statistics 

 
7.1 Project achievements 

 
The PCI DSS assessment has identified how the achievement 

of PCI compliance would be obtained and delivered a metric 

clearly quantifying the current status of Breckland Council 

against the PCI DSS standard through the use of a PCI DSS 

assessment matrix. 

 

7.2 Project Tolerances 

 
In terms of the project tolerances these can be assessed as 

follows; 

 

7.2.1 Time 

 
Time: Must deliver the review of the assessment by Jan 

2010.  The project information gathering and assessment 

matrix was completed within the allocated time scale 

however the final end of project report was delivered after 

the deadline. 

 

7.2.2 Cost 

 
Cost: There is no budget for the assessment stage.  As 

the project did not have any budget assigned and the 

work was primarily a research tasks no costs have been 

incurred during the project lifecycle. 

 

7.2.3 Scope 

 
The scope of the works was to complete the preliminary 

assessment stage of the PCI DSS only.  This has been 

achieved. 

85



 

 

7.2.4 Quality 

 
Quality: Normal business operations should not be 

affected.  At no point has the operation of Breckland 

Council been affected by the PCI DSS assessment 

project. 

 
 

7.2.5 Risks 

 
Risk: All high likelihood/high impact risks to be escalated.  

At no point during the assessment where any risks 

identified which would require escalating. 

 
 

7.2.6 Benefits 

 
Benefits: no tolerance set.  The projects main benefit is 

in providing a starting point for any future PCI compliance 

project. 

 

7.3 Risks & Issues 

During the prilimary PCI DSS assessment a number of risks and 

issues where identified.  The have been categorised as follows; 

86



 

7.3.1 Issues 

Total Issues raised to Date: 4 

 

 New Pending Closed Total 

Top (see below) 0 0 0 0 

High 0 0 0 0 

Medium 4 0 0 4 

Low 0 0 0 0 

Total 4 0 0 4 

7.3.2 By issue Type 

 Raised to date 

Request for change 0 

Off Specification 0 

General Questions 0 

Statement of Concern 4 

7.3.3 “Highest” Issues 

ID Brief Issue Description 

1 

Due to the lack of network segregation the compliance assessment work will 
probably need to consider the entire Breckland network infrastructure. 

 

2 
Lack of documented policies for the card payment system 

 

3 
Lack of in house knowledge on PCI compliance 

 

4 
Current onsite APACS system not PCI compliant. 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

87



7.3.4 Risk Summary 

 

7.3.5 “Highest” Risks 

 

ID Brief Risk Description 

1 Failure to obtain PCI compliance would lead to Breckland Council not 
being able to allow credit cards to be used for payment of services. 

2 Lack of documentation for current procedures within the card payment 
system. 

3 Should the standard version change between assessment and 
compliance then the assessment stage would need to be completed 
again. 

4 Serco might not be PCI DSS compliant and as such would mean 
Breckland Council could not obtain compliance for the full services 
offered by card payment. 

 
 

 
 

 

Total Risk identified to date: 7 

 

Probability No Change Reducing Increasing Closed Total 

High 
 

5 0 0 0 5 

Medium 
  

2 0 0 0 2 

Low 
 

0 0 0 0 0 

Total 7 0 0 0 7 

88



Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

89



Appendix 2  
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

90



Appendix 3  

 
Appendix 3 relates to the PCI DSS compliance Matrix.  The following link will 
load the matrix.  The summary sheet provides and overview of the compliance 
with each tab relating to a separate requirement. 
 
 
PCI DSS Assessment Matrix\MASTER PCI DSS Assessment Matrix v3.xls 
 

91



 

Appendix 4 

 
 

Category Percentage in Place (%) 
Percentage to Complete 

(%) Current Status 

        

Requirement 1 33 67 Non-compliant 

Requirement 2 22 78 Non-compliant 

Requirement 3 10 90 Non-compliant 

Requirement 4 67 33 Non-compliant 

Requirement 5 100 0 Fully compliant 

Requirement 6 47 53 Non-compliant 

Requirement 7 22 78 Non-compliant 

Requirement 8 57 43 Non-compliant 

Requirement 9 62 38 Non-compliant 

Requirement 10 28 72 Non-compliant 

Requirement 11 29 71 Non-compliant 

Requirement 12 13 87 Non-compliant 

Overall Compliance 40.81 59.17 Non-compliant 

 

92



 

Appendix 5 

 

PCI DSS Assessment Radar Chart

0

20

40

60

80

100
Requirement 1

Requirement 2

Requirement 3

Requirement 4

Requirement 5

Requirement 6

Requirement 7

Requirement 8

Requirement 9

Requirement 10

Requirement 11

Requirement 12

 
 
 

93



 
 
 

94



 

 
 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Application Form  
 
 

ICT and Business Improvement Projects 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Document: BITICT Application Form  
Issue Date: 17/02/09  
Version: Final  
Version Number: 2.0  

 

 

Agenda Item 12a

95



APPLICATION FORM    ICT and Business Improvement Projects 

 

 
New Project Name: BDC Digi-TV Services for Breckland Council 

Project Type: Integration/Interfacing 

Supplier (if applicable): Looking Local, Kirklees Council 

Proposed Use: To set up a Digi-TV channel for Breckland Council enabling 
residents who have access to a digital TV, a mobile phone 
and/or a Nintendo Wii connected to the internet to access a 
range of services and information provided by Breckland Council 
and our partners. 

Funding: Combined 

 
Document Author: Oliver Lawer 

Author Contact Tel No: 01362 656844 

Author’s Position Held: Housing Strategy and Development Officer 

Service: Housing 

Date Submitted: 11/03/10 

If you require help with completing this application form please refer to the 
guidelines at the end of the document.  

 

Please also refer to the Policy for Introduction of ICT/BI Projects. 
(Also found at the end of this Document)

96



 

Section A - Use 
Please describe what it is you are applying for? 

A.1 

As part of the development of Breckland Key Select (the Council’s choice based lettings 
system) the Council is to use Digi-TV to improve the accessibility and customer interaction with 
the scheme.  It is recognised, however, that this will only use a fraction of the capacity available 
and as such the opportunity exists for the Council to potentially offer a wide range of its 
services via Digi-TV.  
 
The scope of such a project would however be substantial and as such it is suggested that the 
proposed project be phased in the following way. 
 
Phase 1. 
 
Breckland Key Select services to be made available through a Digital TV Service (including 
related housing pages) provided by Looking Local. Funding is in place to enable this to take 
place for year one and funding will be sought for future years from the income derived from 
RSL partners paying for the service.    
 
Phase 2.  
 
Additional Council Services to be made available through the Digital TV Service. Services 
could include hosting a wide range of information for Digital TV residents to view and online 
forms allowing customers to access a range of interactive services, both from the Council and 
partner organisations. The scope of additional services and information that can be utilised on 
the Digital TV platform are enormous. Examples of local schemes can be accessed via Looking 
Local now and include Wherry Housing Association and Norfolk County Council. 
 
Housing and Environmental Health could act as the pilot for additional services with the view of 
informing future service areas as to the capabilities, practicalities and successes of using Digi-
TV. 
 
Services could include; 
Information available on the BDC Digi-TV channel relating to housing advice, money advice, 
landlords and tenants, energy efficiency, landlord accreditation, housing standards, benefits 
and council tax, dog warden services, licensing and useful contacts to name but a few. 

Digi-TV forms could be created to enable residents to report empty homes, over crowded 
homes, rough sleepers, noisy neighbourhoods, food quality complaints and much more. 

What business problems and opportunities are addressed by the proposed project? 

A.2 

Adding a Breckland Council Digi-TV channel is a great way to further increase the ways in 
which residents can access our service. Better lines of communication will help more residents, 
especially vulnerable residents, to access services. Making information available (including 
interactive services) may assist the Council to reduce the scale of avoidable contact and 
ultimately make efficiencies. Residents would be able to access a choice of information about 
the Council and its services via their TV sets.   

While the flexibility and interactivity of Digi-TV services provide a good way to reach a wider 
audience, it does present potential challenges. Increasing the ways in which residents can 
communicate with the Council may increase the volume of enquiries if the system design, 
development and interaction with other Council systems is not considered carefully.  

Phase 1. 

It is anticipated that Looking Local services will be able to communicate with Breckland Key 

97



 

Select by use of a ‘plug in’ developed initially for the Breckland Key Select service. Essentially 
by using a simple XML API we can integrate back-end databases with our site to offer a range 
of real time end to end transactions. These may be information transactions, personalised, 
account or even financial transactions. This will ensure that the service is fully integrated with 
Breckland Key Select. 

Phase 2. 

The Breckland Key Select service will only use a fraction of the capacity available to us through 
Looking Local services. There are a huge variety of ways in which the Council can utilise Digi-
TV. The annual cost (fixed cost and content management and support cost) as mentioned in 
G.1 of this document, allows Breckland Council to add (within reason) any service we wish to 
our Digi-TV channel and any number of pages. This puts in perspective the huge scope of this 
service. 

If additional Council (or external partners) services are added to the BDC Digi-TV channel, then 
research should be completed to determine the best way of achieving a user friendly 
experience (end to end processing) prior to the launch and marketing of key Council services. 

There are two potential risks associated with both phases;  

1. There is potential risk to the Council if its information is not kept up to date and therefore 
residents are misled. An easy solution to this potential risk would be for Service Areas wishing 
to have a Digi-TV presence, to incorporate checking and updating their Digi-TV Services as 
part of their procedure for updating their content on Breckland Council’s website. 

2. If we wish to explore interactivity with our current systems, there are potentially additional 
costs. If for example a customer wishes to raise a complaint about excessive noise in their 
neighbourhood, we could explore creating a Digi-TV page and form so customers can report 
the problem directly. Once the complaint is raised, an email would be sent to an address of our 
choosing. However, it does not feed through our current reporting systems, such as Lagan with 
the associated disadvantage of having an additional process. We can, however, invest in a 
plug-in, which will simply enable the Digi-TV channel to communicate with Lagan. This will 
mean that the form will be received at Breckland Council in the same way as someone sending 
in a form from our website, through Lagan, and will be dealt with in the same way. 

A plug-in will be purchased from Civica, which is required for Breckland Key Select to interact 
with the BDC Digi-TV Channel. This forms part of phase 1 and will be paid for through our 
existing funding for delivering Breckland Key Select through Digi-TV. In all probability, there will 
be a cost associated with additional plugs-in, should the Council wish for the process to be 
integrated with our current systems, such as Lagan. 

3. Missed opportunities. We have the opportunity to create additional services at no additional 
cost as mentioned above. However, if no additional services are developed, we risk not 
maximising our investment. 

4. Higher then expected customer contact. We can predict the number of enquiries we will 
receive through interactive services based on other Local Authorities experiences of launching 
different services on Digi-TV. An example of which is sighted in B.3 of this document. However, 
there is still a risk that we receive more service requests then we were prepared for and are 
able to act upon within an acceptable time-frame. Contingencies should be considered for each 
Digi-TV service. 

Who will be using the systems and/or new processes and at which location? 

A.3 

Any resident can access Digi-TV services if they have Virgin TV, Sky and in some cases, 
Freeview. The pages can also be accessed using a mobile phone or a Wii connected to the 
internet. Looking Local inform us that nationally, with all these methods of communication 
combined, 90% of the population could access Digi-TV Services, with 55% alone able to 
access digital interactive TV. 

The 10% of residents that cannot access the services through any of the methods stated above 

98



 

can still access the Council services through existing methods. In addition, customers who do 
not have access to a computer and/or internet access at home, could access the Council’s 
services by visiting a library and using the internet.  

There will of course be a small proportion of residents who still find it difficult to access the 
Council’s services. However, Digi-TV services will increase the number of customers that can 
access services day or night from their home and will no doubt be a welcome addition in a rural 
district.  

What are the likely or possible changes in working practices, which will result from the 
introduction of the proposed system/process? 

A.4 If we do not use a plug-in to link Digi-TV services with our current systems (e.g. Lagan) the 
only additional processes would be managing the Digi-TV service requests through a new or 
existing email account.       

Section B – High Level Benefit Analysis 
Please list any expected benefits, particularly those with productivity, efficiency and 
cashable gains. 

B.1 

There are many reasons why adding a Breckland Council Digi-TV could be beneficial to the 
authority, our partners and our residents. 

 1. All Breckland Council residents will have switched to digital TV by 2011, which means it is 
likely more residents will be using Digi-TV services. 

2. Using interactive Digi-TV to contact the Council is free for our residents and other Local 
Authorities have demonstrated how it has, in all probability, saved the Council money. An 
example of which is detailed in section B.3. 

3. According to Looking Local, over 80% of homes have digital TV today and over 55% of 
homes can interact via their digital TV. 

4. Interactive Digi-TV is available 24 hours a day 7 days a week. 

5. The Breckland Council Digi-TV site could enable residents to report a range of issues, find 
out local information and access a wide range of services, including viewing and bidding on 
properties using the Breckland Key Select service. 

6. Journey planning and traffic/transport news from Transport Direct, searching for a job with 
Jobcentre Plus and advice from the Legal Service Commission could potentially be added to 
our content and services. 

7. Interactive Digi-TV can be used to run polls, local consultations and pages can be added to 
allow contact with Councillors, MPs or MEPs. In terms of the process, it would essentially be 
the same as receiving an email. 

8. Interactive Digi-TV gives our residents yet another channel of communication with us,  
increasing the number of ways customers can contact us. In such a rural district, this is a huge 
benefit. 

9. When the analogue switch-off comes, Local Government should be a key player in leading 
the local change. Switch off is not just about more TV channels, but offering a new way of 
communication. Councils can help the community in understanding this by helping them make 
the most of this new technology and providing useful services to help a range of people.  

10. Digi-TV continues to show Breckland Council as a forward thinking authority who utilises 
best practice and the latest technology to offer better, more accessible services to our 
residents.      

B.2 
Please list any expected benefits, particularly those with improvements in accessing 

99



 

information for customers, staff, stakeholders, and members. 

In phase 1, meeting the housing needs of our residents is hugely important and providing 
additional ways for residents to access affordable housing through Breckland Key Select will 
help us meet that need.  

In phase 2, additional Digi-TV services can further increase the scope of this channel of 
communication, bringing more information and interactive services to our residents finger tips. 

The Digi-TV services (be it by TV or mobile) may reach up to 90% of the Breckland’s 
population, helping residents to access our services in an easy and straightforward way – this 
may be the first time some of our residents have been able to access Council's services in an 
interactive way, instead of having to call or visit our offices.      

Please list any identified financial benefit (capital & revenue savings) which this system 
is expected to deliver. Please provide factual evidence. 

B.3 

Using interactive Digi-TV to contact the Council is free for our residents and other Local 
Authorities have demonstrated how it has, in all probability, saved the Council money. 

The following example was provided by Looking Local to help demonstrate the probable cost 
savings Digi-TV can offer. 

INtouch Kirklees is consistently a high performing site on Looking Local. In December 2009, 
there were 2,575 sessions on INtouch. In the first two weeks of January 2010, when Kirklees 
was badly affected by the snow, average usage increased to over 1,000 sessions per week, as 
users received regular updates about transport, schools, gritting, service disruptions and 
support.  

Based on the fact that many of the people using INtouch would otherwise be using face-to-face 
channels and the telephone, this offers significant savings.  

Even if we only consider the cost of a phone call (which is the primary alternative channel 
Looking Local users cite as how they contact the Council) at the SOCITM Insight 2008 figure of 
£3.22 this would mean that in December 2009 alone the savings can be calculated as 
£8,291.50. If we take this over a year, it equates to £99,498, minus the £15,000 annual 
subscription - this is a £84,498 annual saving. 

One of the best ways of analysing cost savings, would be to build in questions related to ‘using 
Digi-TV as an alternative to calling the Council’ into customer feedback forms.  

For example, in a Breckland Council feedback form, we could include a question that asks 
‘please state how many occasions you have used Breckland Council Digi-TV services where 
you would normally have contacted the Council by phone or visited our offices?’ 

Whilst we cannot hope to capture this information from every Digi-TV user, this will allow us to 
perform a cost benefit analysis of the service on a proportional basis. Regular surveys of this 
type will enable us to track performance over time. 

To help support the business case, please list any other potential benefit not listed or 
described above. 

B.4 
Additional Digi-TV services can be added at any time without incurring additional servicing or 
implementation costs from Looking Local (dependant on the level of integration we want, there 
may be a cost for plug-ins – as explained in section A.2 of this document). 

Breckland Key Select will only use a fraction of the capabilities available through Digi-TV and 
creates the scope to develop other Digi-TV services.  

How does the project deliver improved monitoring for performance (e.g. National 
Indicators) 

B.5 
Looking Local provides the Council with full CMS access enabling us to view the BDC Digi-TV 
usage data in a wide variety of ways including; our total visits per day (and breakdown of time 

100



 

of day), total session visits and plug-in uses. We also have ability to view which channel (Sky, 
mobile, Wii, etc) has been used to access the site, the screens residents have visited, the 
length of time for each visit, plus much more. It’s a comprehensive system enabling us to log 
on 24/7 to access this information.       

Section C – Relationship to the Corporate Business Plan 
Please list and define known relationships to Corporate Business Plan/LAA.  

C.1 

The services delivered by Digi-TV link with Corporate Business Plan under the sections; 
‘Prosperous Communities, developing flourishing rural communities’ and ‘Entrepreneurial 
Council, maximise the potential of the Council's technology to meet current and future needs’. 

The service developed through Breckland Key Select assists in meeting our independent living 
targets of NI141 and 142 which encourages people to support themselves and make planned 
moves from supported accommodation. Greater access to information underpins (indirectly) 
some of this work.  

Please explain how the proposal will meet and deliver the objectives from the Corporate 
Business Plan 

C.2 

BDC Digi-TV Services will help develop flourishing rural communities in the following ways; 

In phase 1, it will enable residents that may not have access to an internet enabled computer in 
their home to view and bid for affordable housing in Breckland. In phase 2, with additional 
Council services, the scope for helping communities to flourish is huge. Simply giving residents 
access to money advice and benefits/council tax information could have a large impact.  

Digi-TV offers huge benefits for a rural district and will ensure that villages enjoy reasonable 
access to basic services. Whether rural or urban, Digi-TV will also help those who are older, 
disabled or suffer from health problems to access Council services. A great example of the 
innovation of Digi-TV is demonstrated by residents being able to access Digi-TV services 
through the Wii. This can be a great help for those residents that are older and find it difficult to 
use a traditional remote control or computer mouse/keyboard. 

BDC Digi-TV Services will help maximise the potential of the Council's technology to meet 
current and future needs of our residents. 

This proposal will also contribute to the Governments 'Place Survey' enabling greater audience 
participation which could increase Council's score for 'Overall Satisfaction' 

Section D – Risk Assessment 
How will the system enable better management of risks identified in the Council’s Risk 
Register?  Please provide comprehensive list. 

D.1 In phase 1, Breckland Key Select being available through Digi-TV will directly contribute to 
RSH06, defined as increasing numbers of vulnerable customers accessing services. 

Additional BDC Digi-TV services may contribute to other factors on the Council's risk register, 
which will need to be assessed at the time      

How will additional risks introduced during or after the project be managed? 

D.2 
Additional risks will need to be assessed as Council services are added to the Digi-TV 
channel.      

D.3 
What cost savings (if any) have been identified to reduce/eliminate risks through the 
proposed system? 

101



 

N/A 

What is the risk of doing nothing? 

D.4 

As phase 1 has the funding available to complete the project, which includes the set-up and 
implementation of a Breckland Council Digi-TV Chanel, there is a risk that the channel will only 
be used for Breckland Key Select and related housing pages. Whilst this is an excellent project 
in its own right, it will only use a fraction of the possibilities afforded to us and we will have 
missed an opportunity to add additional services.  

Section E – Other Reference Sites 
What other reference site is the system/process currently in use?  Please provide a list 
of references and contact details (e.g.: names, telephone numbers and/or e-mail 
addresses). 

E.1 

The Looking Local service is provided by Kirklees Council and used by over 80 Local 
Authorities and Housing Associations across the UK. Many good examples of how Local 
Authorities can utilise Digi-TV can be found in the 'Looking Local Marketing Pack'.  

They are too numerous to mention within this document, however, I have included a couple of 
examples below. 

Locally, Greater Norwich Housing Options provide their Choice Based Lettings system through 
Looking Local with additional services including; a questionnaire, legal help, job search, 
transport information and GP Services. 

Wherry Housing Association also have a presence on Digi-TV, including information on new 
events, reporting anti-social behaviour, finding a home, benefits, rent arrears, home 
improvements, consultations. Plus the national links such as, job search, health, transport 
information and legal advice.  

Norfolk County Council are also developing a Digi-TV site which will be available shortly for 
their adult social services department. 

Further afield, Leicester City Council have some good examples of Environmental Health 
Services, including dog wardens, food safety, health and safety at work, pest control and insect 
identification service. 

North Tyneside Council have some good examples of building control, planning, recycling and 
waste and sustainable development services. 

Looking Local are happy to provide best practice examples of Digi-TV services that have been 
created by other Local Authorities. These can be used to help us build our own services. 

Links are available if required.       

Section F – Alternatives Investigated 

What alternatives have been considered in reaching this recommendation? Please list. 

F.1 

Breckland Key Select will be available online, by phone and text. Digi-TV offers customers who 
do not have easy access to the internet the ability to view and bid on properties through their 
TV.  

In terms of all other Council services, these are obviously available through the current means, 
phone, website etc and Digi-TV simply provides another channel of communication. 

Please explain for each option why these are not the preferred solutions? 

F.2 
N/A 

102



 

Has consideration been given to the underlying service processes before considering 
an ICT solution? Please explain giving detail. 

F.3 

Phase 1. 

We have explored how Breckland Key Select will integrate with existing systems and as stated 
earlier in this form, with the addition of a 'plug-in' from Civica, no additional processes will be 
created.  

Phase 2. 

As stated earlier, dependant on the level of functionality the Council prefers, further 
considerations will need to be made when exploring additional BDC Digi-TV services. 

Section G – Costs & Support 
Please give an indication of expected overall project costs (capital & revenue)? 

G.1 

The costs for the service are as follows. We are still awaiting a quote from Civica for the 'plug-
in' required for Digi-TV to be linked with Breckland Key Select; 

Fixed price cost for the first year; £12,000 

Fixed price cost for any subsequent years; Any increases (to the annual £12,000 cost) will be 
in line with RPI. A framework for price increases is covered in the contract.  

Content management and support; £3,000 annually 

£price to be confirmed for Civica Plug-in. 

Total cost for the first year is £priceto be confirmed, which includes the set-up and content 
management of BDC Digi-TV pages.  

Costs may increase next year as set out above. 

Provision should also be made for marketing Digi-TV. This figure will be entirely dependant on 
the ways in which the council wishes to publicise Digi-TV and how often. Decisions will no 
doubt be informed by how successful the campaigns are. 

Although there are currently no foreseen additional costs associated with phase 1, it may be 
wise to allocate 10% of the budget for contingency planning.  

Please indicate the expected source of funding? (e.g. Corporate, Service, ICT)  

G.2 
Phase 1 will be funded by the Hosuing Service. 

If the Council wishes to incorporate additional pages into Digi-TV, then a Corporate budget 
could be considered for subsequent years. 

Who will provide annual maintenance and support? 

G.3 

Content is provided by Breckland District Council and uploaded and managed by Looking 
Local. This is included in the cost. The Looking Local service is a completely managed service 
provided by Kirklees Council and used by over 80 Local Authorities and Housing Associations 
across the UK. All technology is centrally hosted and managed as part of the service. 

Looking Local also have extensive experience in assisting local marketing efforts. They have 
also produced a ‘marketing pack' which sets out how to get the best from Digi-TV services from 
a marketing perspective. 

Will Steria be required to provide support for the project and the ongoing support? 

G.4 Steria may be required during the project implementation of phase 2, such as opening ports, 
however this is not necessarily required. Further technical specifications are available on 
request.      

103



 

Please indicate how you intend to resource the project? 

G.5 

Phase 1 will be resourced by the Housing Strategy and Development Officer, with support from 
the Principal Housing Officer (Strategy and Enabling). 

Phase 2. If the Council wishes for the Housing and Environmental Health team to pilot 
additional Council services, then the Housing Strategy and Development Officer and any 
required additional resource within the teams, will be assigned to the project. 

For additional Council services outside of the Housing and Environmental Health team, Service 
Areas will need to assign their own resource to these projects.       

Please indicate who will be sponsoring the project? 
G.6 

Anita Brennan, Assistant Director of Health and Housing. 

Will the project impact on any other Service? Explain how?  

G.7 If the Council decides to add additional services then there may be an impact on other services 
and these will need to be assessed at the time. Digi-TV services for Breckland Key Select will 
not impact on other services.      

Section H – Impact on External Parties 
Please provide details on any potential impact on external agencies & partners which 
the new process/system is likely to affect.  

H.1 
If the Council decides to add additional services then there may be an impact on external 
agencies & partners and these will need to be assessed at the time.  

Please indicate where the project is required due to Government targets or Legal 
obligation? If yes, how and what are the timescales for compliance? 

H.2 

There is no Government target or legal requirement to have Digi-TV services. 

Section I – Training 
Please provide any training/skills transfer information? 

I.1 
N/A 

Please explain how training will impact your current operation and workload. 
I.2 

N/A 

104



 

 
Note: Sections J,K to be completed by ICT/BIT. 

Section J - Scoring 
Project Score Programme Rank 

J.1 
21% 22/31 

Section K – Comments (see Appendix A for detailed response) 
ICT 

K.1 

Kevin Taylor (Head of ICT) 
 
General: 

• I don’t believe this has been considered alongside the Customer Access Strategy yet (it’s a customer 
facing project) 

• Not sure if the impact of S-Norfolk merger has been considered – or whether anything done at County 
level – need to confirm 

• No plans for year 2 funding as yet (this is key – will need a growth bid to confirm availability of funding 
– if none available then is there value in proceeding with Phase 1 as could create the demand but not 
be able to sustain it?) 

 
Kevin Rump (ICT Project Manager) 
 

+    Other councils are using it and you can access it from home (proven) 
+    There is support/drive from the service to do this project 
+    Could be the future 
 
- Business case as it stands is weak – no clear tangible benefits and total costs (including resource 

requirement) not identified  
- Does Breckland have the demand for this service 
- Some figures based upon an inappropriate example 
- What about LGR/Shared Services? This document doesn’t touch on this risk/opportunity 
 

This document focuses too much on the benefits of phase 2 rather than the benefits/costs of phase 1: 
housing/CBL. It should touch on the potential for other services but should not be owned, measured and 
calculated by Housing – instead it should be owned corporately. As a result, to make this case stronger, 
more focus should go into addressing the issues, risks, costs and benefits for phase 1 which seems to 
have more clarity around its scope. If this is to be a corporate project, then its owner is incorrect.  

 

105



 

Steria 

K.2 

 
Jo Linton (Steria) 
 
Having read through the proposal with the team whilst like some of the others this seems a very nice to 
have idea there is not enough specific technical information given for Steria to comment on the viability of 
this at this time. 
 
Given the current plans to improve the website, e-access for Revs & bens, online planning and improved 
telephony access for the contact centre there are already significant changes to be planned and resourced 
in the next 12 months. If this work does go ahead it is very important that the Steria team are engaged at 
the earliest opportunity especially in regard of implementation, technical specification and ongoing support 
agreements when working with other third parties such as Civica and the Digital TV provider.  
 
There are lessons to be learned from the Capita planning model where a solution was agreed without full 
terms of reference and infrastructure reviews being carried out. 
 
I hope this does not sound too negative as it is always good to be looking forward and working with a 
forward thinking partner such as Breckland Council but there is a high risk that too much change 
implemented too quickly may not actually be as beneficial as first thought. 
 

Business Improvement Team/Customer/Communications 

K.3 

Adam Colby/Gavin Hughes (Business Improvement) 

I haven’t seen anything in the application that couldn’t be set up on the internet. Are we offering these 
services online? For the cost and time of the project how much more benefit would there be over adding 
online functionality?  

Who will be responsible for keeping content up to date? The current way of updating the internet does 
not work. 

Not enough information on public demand for this service. 

Are any Housing Associations looking to do something similar and could we piggyback on their project? 

 
Dominic Chessum (Communications) 
I hope the below doesn’t sound too negative but, as I mentioned, I do have some concerns about this. No 
doubt you will already have got most of these on your list but here we go… 
 
On the whole I think this has the potential to be something the council could use to its advantage to 
complement its website and digital strategy, however, that said, I feel the project is premature and should 
be considered a year down the line when the new website, including the governance system, has been 
established. 
 
Developing Digi TV at this stage could well involve a great deal of replication in the work currently being 
done to develop the website. There are also issues concerning data control, including the creation of a 
new CMS, which could have implications for the project at a later date if it were to be embarked upon 
now. 
 
Another issue is branding. The new website will ensure all the council’s digital output is consistently 
branded. This is a crucial part of any strategy to develop customer confidence in digital media and divert 
people from face-to-face to digital interaction. The Digi TV would need to be branded in the same way as 
the website and as that branding has not yet been established this is not possible at this stage. 
 
I also have concerns that the proposal is to develop this project for the rest of the council as a phase two. 
This would mean phase two should fall under the remit of the communications team but there is no 
budget to do this rollout or continue the project after its first year. 
 
Monica Coffey (Customer) 
I know County has done a lot of work on Digital inclusion that they have a strong team who look at ICT 
web & other such channels. 
 

106



 

The Customer Access Strategy will need an overhaul as we need to review what South Norfolk has in 
place or not as the case maybe! 
 
Have vulnerable groups access to a DigiTV – would this be an extra cost to the council? 

Performance & Value for Money 

K.4 

Steve James (Performance) 
I am interested to understand what commitments have been made by RSL’s to confirm/commit funding 
for years beyond Phase 1.   
 
Phase 2 suggests this becomes a corporate solution so I am uncertain about what we are agreeing here 
(i.e it appears to be wider than just for housing).  If the vision is to expand access through increased 
services I would be interested to understand what research has been done into future costs and also 
resource to implement and maintain this. 
 
Do back office processes need to be developed to cope with this new means of interaction.  Has Monica 
been involved in terms of how information will be received if requests go to the CCC, is it likely in the 
early stages overall demand will go up as people new to the system send requests and also phone up? 
 
In terms of improving access is this how customers want to access services, being mindful and in view of 
proposed enhancements to our website?  What do transaction figures from similar authorities tell us? 
 
Having done some brief research it does appear to be usual for Digi Tv provision to accompany CBL 
services, so with that in mind I can understand this being the driver for the project. 

Finance & Procurement 
K.5 

No response received 

Service Manager (if not the applicant) K.6 

N/a – seen and reviewed by Anita Brennan 

Internal Checks 
 Ref:  

1 Completed Form  

2 Service Manager Approval  

3 ICT Checked  

4 Steria Checked  

5 BIT Checked  

6 Performance & Value for Money Check  

7 Finance Checked  

8 Service Manager Checked  

9 Application Verified  

107



 

Policy for Introduction of ICT & BI Projects 

In order for an “idea” to become a resourced approved Project it will need to follow the steps below.  
This Application Form is step 1 only.  
 
- Staff wishing to obtain either new ICT systems or Business Solutions must make a written 

application, using this application form, to the Chairman of the Business Improvement Board. 
- The completed application must be based on sound evidence, giving full details.  
- The application must be supported by the Portfolio Holder and Head of Service. 
- Any incomplete application will be rejected 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 
Form 

Rejected 

Accepted 

Further 
info 

required 

Ideas 

BIB 

Feasibility 
Study 

Rejected 

Accepted 

Further 
info 

required 

BIB 

Initiate 
Project 

Rejected 

Accepted 

Further 
info 

required 

BIB 

Ideas Rejected 

Project Formally Initiated 

Step 1 

Step 2 

Step 3 

BIB = Business       
Improvement Board 

108



 

 
 
 

Application Forms are required for: 
- New software/hardware, including those provided initially at “no cost” 
- Replacement software/hardware (including any upgrades) 
- Integration and interfacing 
- Significant increases in software support expenditure 
- Strategic Service Reviews/End to End Business Process Re-engineering 
- Business Process Improvements 
 
The Business Improvement Board will consider the application, employing external expert advisers 
where necessary, and make one of the following recommendations: 
- Further investigation and research required 
- Reject application 
- Accept Application and progress to Step 2: Feasibility Study 

 

The ultimate decision on the introduction of new projects involving ICT and Business Improvement will 
rest with the Business Improvement Board. 

The introduction of service review/project must be monitored and audited against an agreed protocol 
and regular audit reports must be made available to the Board to ensure the expected benefits of the 
investment are realised. 
 

Guidelines for Form Completion 

Before passing the application for approval, please be sure to: 

1) Complete all sections.  This will ensure that all relevant information is available so that an early 
decision can be made. Incomplete sections may result in the application being refused or 
returned. 

2) Attach any supporting evidence which the Business Improvement Board should take into account. 

3) Ask your finance representative to calculate the impact on the budget of your own and any other 
Service.   

4) Obtain the approval of your Service Manager. 

5) Send the completed application (as an e-mail attachment only) to the following recipients: 

Adam Colby:  adam.colby@breckland.gov.uk 

Kevin Rump: Kevin.rump@breckland.gov.uk 

Kevin J Taylor Kevin.taylor2@breckland.gov.uk 

6) When required, you should be prepared to brief a representative on the Board in order to support 
the application and answer questions. You may be required to attend meetings in person. 

109



 

Appendix A: Detailed response 

 
Section A: Use  
A.1: Is choice based lettings complete/signed off? This project should be dependent upon the completion of CBL 
if not already completed. (KR) 

A.1: It is recognised that this will only achieve a fraction of the capacity available so will only achieve a fraction of 
the potential benefits (KR) 

A.1: Phase 1 – Funding identified for year 1 only. What is the risk of not being able to fund future years if the 
DigiTV is shut down as a result of lack of payment? (KR) 

A1-2 – What’s likely appetite from other services, and do they have any funding at this stage to support this post 
year 1? Also the revised Web Site may plan to deliver similar services via redesigned web site (again needs to 
align to Customer Access Strategy primarily). (KT) 

A.2: Better lines of communication for vulnerable residents – is there a demand in Breckland and is there 
supporting evidence? (KR) 

A.2: Reduce the scale of avoidable contact – can this be baselined now? (KR) 

A.2: Risk to customer services if there is an increase in call volume enquiries – is this factored into the business 
case (KR) 

A.2: Phase 2: This project is to deliver phase 1 and not the corporate but recognise the scalability of the product. 
This section should touch on the corporate possibilities but should be included in this business case as this is not 
being driven corporately.(KR) 

A:2: Is there a demand from other services other than housing to use DigiTV? (KR) 

A.2: Many of the aims and requirements are shared by the creation of a new website and as such there is a high 
chance of the replication of work. (DC) 

A.2: There is a risk this system could divert people to the call centre or into face-to-face contact situations. This 
risk needs to be ameliorated or the benefits of it will not be realised and it will cost the council money in terms of 
contact time. (DC) 

A.2: There are currently very few transactable services online. Allowing information transactions online therefore 
has a huge cost in officer time at present and also presents the council with database issues. (DC) 

A.2: If we use a separate content management system after creating a bespoke one for the website which could 
be integrated with digiTV at time of creation we will essentially be doubling a work load and will also have to have 
a separate or mirrored governance structures in place. (DC) 

A.3: What about the performance of DigiTV? (KR) 

A.3: Theses are national figures, we need local ones. I know from personal experience that many places in 
Breckland rely on satellite TV due to lack of normal signal. This could mean the figure getting digi TV is much 
higher than the national average. On the other hand it could mean that more people need to get Freesat systems 
rather than simple digi boxes ahead of the switchover. (DC)  
 
A.3. No stats on expected take up (i.e. %ge of houses that could have DigiTV and of those, how many would 
have an interest in accessing DigiTV services/housing? (and whether DigiTV is the right channel for housing and 
homeless as TVs tend to be home based? – the principle of DigiTV service is sound but is Housing the right 
model to start this with? (KT) 

A.3: Promoting channels absolutely key as people do not know about this service. In which case the costs of 
marketing need to be included in the project (KR) 

A.4 Has a plug-in connector between Lagan and DigiTV ever been achieved? (KR) 

 
Section B: High Level Benefit Analysis 
B: There doesn’t seem to be any tangible benefits in these sections, more sweeping statements about its 
coverage and availability of DigiTV. 
Points 1, 3, 4, 9, 10: statements not a benefit 
Points 2, 5, 6, 7, 8: touches on possible benefits but are more related to phase 2 and are not tangible benefits. 
(KR) 
 

110



 

B.1: This is essentially increasing methods of contact which is good but we need to factor in officer time to deal 
with another channel of communication. (DC) 
 
B.3: Possibly saved the council money. Has it or hasn’t it saved the council money? (DC) 
 
B.3: Used Kirklees facts as an example but Kirklees has a population of 403,000 compared to Breckland 131,800. 
Uses £3.22 as a baseline figure – Business Impr Team to comment on this figure but based on the Kirklees 
example £84,498 annual saving is not achievable.  
Who will own this benefit to ensure it is achieved? (KR) 
 
B.3: Proposed saving – only realisable if we loose staff elsewhere, which is outside of housing influence, so can 
this be referenced? (KT) 
 
Section D: Risk Assessment 

D.2: Additional risks will need to be assessed as Council services are added to the Digi-TV channel. By who? 
How? Question has not been answered. (GH) 

D.4: Question not answered correctly (GH) 

D.4: This doesn’t explain the risk of doing nothing, it instead explains the risk of not doing phase 2. My 
understanding is that this is no risk if Breckland chooses not to progress DigiTV. Progressing DigiTV may 
introduce further risk. (KR) 

D.4: Needs a growth bid for phase 2 – even if majorly successful (KT) 

 
Section E: Other Reference Sites 
E.1: Has any site been contacted that are comparable to Breckland in its geography and demographics that has 
achieved DigiTV(+ plug-in)? (KR) 
 
 
Section F: Alternatives Investigated 
 
No Alternatives investigated (GH) 
 
Section G: Costs & Support 
G.1: Plug-in costs needed but what guarantees are there from Civica that this will work – are we in danger of 
repeating a CBL if there no evidence of achievement? (KR) 

G.1: Marketing costs need to be factored in (KR) 

G.1: looks to be £12k annual plus further £3k annual so £15k p.a. year on year. Can we afford it? – Civica plug-in 
cost not identified either (KT) 

G.1: This is not something that should be set up if there is a chance we will have to shut it down in the next year 
due to costs. We need to know costings for phase 2 and then make sure the budget is there for it if this is to go 
ahead. Cutting the service after a year could well lead to increased use of the contact centre and face to face 
contact. (DC) 
G.2: Phase 1 will be funded by Housing for year 1 only – what about the rest? (KR) 

G.3: Who will govern, manage and administrate the content? This is an issue with the current corporate website 
so this needs to be clearly identified. (KR) 

G.3: What arrangements are in place re. Looking Local service as this would be managed by Kirklees – another 
Council not a supplier (e.g. Civica) (KR) 

G.4: We should be able to make it so the new website CMS has the potential to be able to integrate with any 
future Digi TV system in terms of managing its content and this will save on officer time and increase accuracy of 
data as it will all fall under the one governance system which is being created. (DC) 
Who is the supplier? Is it Kirklees – in which case can we trust the marketing information provided around the 
success of the implementation as detailed in section B.3? (KR) 

Section I – Training 
i.1: No training provided? (KR) 

 

111



A
g

e
n
d
a
 Ite

m
 1

6

1
1
2

B
y
 v

irtu
e
 o

f p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
(s

) 3
 o

f P
a
rt 1

 o
f S

c
h

e
d
u
le

 1
2
A

o
f th

e
 L

o
c
a

l G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t A
c
t 1

9
7

2
.

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
t is

 R
e
s
tric

te
d


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Customer Access Strategy
	8 Procurement Strategy
	Procurement and Commissioning Strategy 2010 doc  Version 1 march 2010v2

	10 Licensing and Business Support
	11b Assets Estateman
	11c Contaminated Land
	11e PCI Compliance Phase
	12a Housing Digital TV
	16 Steria Service Review

